### Existence of Solutions for Fractional Langevin Equation



### By Sumiha Mumraiz

Supervised by Dr. Mujeeb ur Rehman

Department of Mathematics

School of Natural Sciences

National University of Sciences and Technology

H-12, Islamabad, Pakistan

2021

#### FORM TH-4

### National University of Sciences & Technology

#### **MASTER'S THESIS WORK**

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by: <u>Sumiha Mumraiz</u>, <u>Regn No. 00000278251</u> Titled: <u>Existence of Solutions for Fractional Langevin Equation</u> be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of **MS** degree.

#### **Examination Committee Members**

1. Name: <u>Dr. Matloob Anwar</u>

Signature:

2. Name: Dr. Umer Saeed

Signature:

External Examiner: Dr. Qamar Din

Signature:\_

Supervisor's Name: <u>Dr. Mujeeb ur Rehman</u>

Signature:

Head of Department

12/04/2021

COUNTERSINGED

Date: 12 4 202

Dean/Principal

### Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to My great parents, who never cease to offer themselves in endless ways.

### Acknowledgement

In the Name of Allah, The Most Compassionate and The Most Gracious, all glories belongs to Him. First and foremost, I must accept my unlimited appreciation to Allah, for His blessings and support.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to Dr. Mujeeb ur Rehman, who has always been helpful at all stages of research work. Thank you for your guidance, invaluable support and recommendations in the development of this study.

I would also like to share my wholehearted gratitude to my family. They have given me great assistance for my whole life. In fact, by the course of obtaining Master's degree. Not least of all, my heartfelt thanks goes to my friends for their support, their friendship and motivation, which eventually made this study possible.

Sumiha Mumraiz

### Abstract

In this research, we investigated nonlinear fractional Langevin equation involving two distinct generalized fractional derivatives. Existence of unique and at least one solution is demonstrated by making use of Krasnoselskii's theorem and Banach contraction mapping principle. Pair of fractional Langevin equations with Caputo and Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives were considered to check existence of positive solution. Green functions for related equations are found to verify existence of positive solution using fixed point theorems, upper and lower solution techniques. Also we have discussed a coupled system of fractional Langevin equations. Existence result is obtained by utilizing Schauder Fixed Point theorem and uniqueness result is proved by contraction mapping theorem.

### Contents

1	Inti	roduction	1
	1.1	Basic Knowledge	2
		1.1.1 Some Special Functions	2
	1.2	Riemann-Liouville and Caputo Fractional Integral and Derivative	4
		1.2.1 Generalized Integral and Derivative	6
	1.3	Results from Analysis	10
<b>2</b>	Generalized Fractional Langevin Equation		12
	2.1	Existence of Unique Solution	14
	2.2	Existence of Solution	20
3	Existence of Positive Solution for Fractional Langevin Equations		25
	3.1	Green Functions	27
	3.2	Properties of Green Functions	30
	3.3	Existence of Positive Solution	33
4	Existence of Solution for Coupled System of Langevin Equation		45
	4.1	Existence of Solution	46
	4.2	Existence of Unique Solution	53
5	Cor	nclusion	56
Bi	Biblography		

### Chapter 1

### Introduction

The concept of differentiation is known to those who have gone through ordinary calculus. The nth derivative  $\frac{d^ng}{dt^n}$  of a function g is well defined where n is an integer. The development of fractional calculus began immediately after development of classical calculus. Initially, it was stated in Leibniz's letter to the L'Hospital, which proposed the concept of a semi-derivative [13,14,25]. The development of fractional calculus was made by several prominent mathematicians including Riemann, Lagrange, Liouville, Fourier, Heaviside, Euler, Abel etc.

Lacroix wrote a paper in 1819 defining the fractional derivative. The *n*th derivative of  $y = t^m$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ , is

$$\frac{d^n y}{dt^n} = \frac{m!}{(m-n)!} t^{m-n}, \ m \ge n,$$

he replaced generalized factorial by Legendre's symbol  $\Gamma$ ,

$$\frac{d^n y}{dt^n} = \frac{\Gamma(m+1)}{\Gamma(m-n+1)} t^{m-n}.$$

The semi-derivative is obtained by taking m = 1, n = 1/2

$$\frac{d^{1/2}y}{t^{1/2}} = 2\sqrt{\frac{t}{\pi}}. (1.1)$$

Fourier listed the fractional derivative, but did not provide any examples or implementations. So, N.H. Abel was the first to render applications [2]. He analyzed the fractional calculus in the integral equation solution.

Over the time, numerous mathematicians, employing their own terminology and methodology, have defined different concepts meeting the concept of non-integer order derivatives and integrals. Definition of Riemann-Liouville fractional is one of the most common definition in fractional calculus. Riemann-Liouville definition of fractional derivative provides equivalent result as in equation (1.1). Most of concepts of fractional calculus are essentially modifications of Riemann-Liuoville interpretation, This version and its extensions are most likely to be addressed in this work.

#### 1.1 Basic Knowledge

Before specifying the definition of integration and derivative of Reimann Liouville and Caputo, we shall first state some special functions that are needed to properly understand the definitions to come.

#### 1.1.1 Some Special Functions

We will introduce the fundamental meanings and characteristics of some special functions in this section, that are the main pillars of fractional calculus.

#### Gamma Function

Gamma function is one of essential features of fractional calculus.

**Definition 1.1.1.** [27] The gamma function can be defined as:

$$\Gamma(h) = \int_0^\infty e^{-v} v^{h-1} dv, \ h \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$

Some of the fundamental properties are:

- (i)  $\Gamma(1) = 1$ .
- (ii)  $\Gamma(h+1) = h!$ , h is a non-negative integer.
- (iii)  $\Gamma(h+1) = h\Gamma(h), h > 0.$

Here are some commonly found examples of gamma function for different value of h,  $\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) = \sqrt{\pi}$ ,  $\Gamma(n + \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2^n}(2n - 1)!$ ,  $\Gamma(-n) = \pm \infty$ , n = 0, 1, 2, 3, ...

The analytic extension of gamma function is given as below:

$$\Gamma(h) = \frac{\Gamma(h+w)}{h(h+1)(h+2)...(h+w-1)},$$

for any positive value of w. The above formula defines  $\Gamma(h)$  for -w < h < 0 and  $h \neq -1, -2, \dots - w + 1$ . Thus domain of the gamma function is  $h \in \mathbb{R} - \{0, -1, -2, -3, \dots\}$ .

#### **Beta Function**

It is more efficient to apply beta function instead of gamma in certain situations.

**Definition 1.1.2.** [27] The beta function can be defined as:

$$B(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \int_0^1 v^{\tau_1 - 1} (1 - v)^{\tau_2 - 1} dv, \ \tau_1 > 0, \ \tau_2 > 0.$$

Beta function can also be defined using gamma function as given below

$$B(\tau_1, \tau_2) = \frac{\Gamma(\tau_1)\Gamma(\tau_2)}{\Gamma(\tau_1 + \tau_2)}.$$

#### Mittag-Leffler Function

Among the important functions associated with fractional differential equation is Mittag-Leffler function.

**Definition 1.1.3.** [27] One-parameter and two-parameter Mittag-Leffler functions denoted by  $E_{\kappa}(t)$  and  $E_{\kappa,\zeta}(t)$  respectively and defined as:

$$E_{\kappa}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^n}{\Gamma(n\kappa + 1)}, \ \kappa > 0.$$

For  $\kappa = 1$ , we have  $E_1(t) = e^t$  and for  $\kappa = 2$ ,  $E_2(t) = \cosh t$ .

$$E_{\kappa,\zeta}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^n}{\Gamma(n\kappa + \zeta)}, \ \kappa > 0, \ \zeta > 0.$$

In particular,  $E_{1,2}(t) = \frac{e^t - 1}{t}$ ,  $E_{2,2}(t) = \frac{\sinh \sqrt{t}}{\sqrt{t}}$ .

## 1.2 Riemann-Liouville and Caputo Fractional Integral and Derivative

Fractional integral and derivative were developed by prolongation of integer order integral and derivative. The fractional integral can be derived from conventional expression for repeated integration of a function. Generally, this approach is known as Riemann-Liouville method. Cauchy is credited with following method for determining pth integration of function.

$$\int_{a}^{t} \int_{a}^{z_{p-1}} \dots \int_{a}^{z_{1}} g(z)dzdz_{1} \dots dz_{p-1} = \frac{1}{(p-1)!} \int_{a}^{t} (t-z)^{p-1} g(z)dz.$$

The operator  $I_a^p$  denotes repeated integration,

$$I_a^p g(t) = \frac{1}{(p-1)!} \int_a^t (t-z)^{p-1} g(z) dz, \ p \in \mathbb{Z}^+.$$

The above formula does not provide fractional order integration. For all the real values, gamma function gives extension of fractional. Thus, formula for fractional integration can be obtained by replacing fractional expression by gamma function.

$$I_a^{\kappa}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_a^t (t-z)^{\kappa-1} g(z) dz, \ \kappa \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$

**Definition 1.2.1.** [27,35] The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral of order  $\kappa > 0$  is stated as:

$$I_a^{\kappa}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_a^t (t-z)^{\kappa-1} g(z) dz.$$

For  $t \geq a$ , if g is continuous then

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0} I_a^{\kappa} g(t) = g(t).$$

**Lemma 1.2.2.** When  $g(t) = t^{\zeta}$ ,  $\zeta > -1$  then we have

$$I_0^{\kappa} t^{\zeta} = \frac{\Gamma(\zeta+1)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)} t^{\zeta+\kappa}.$$

**Example 1.2.1.** For  $\kappa = 2$  and  $\zeta = 3/2$ ,

$$I_0^2 t^{3/2} = \frac{\Gamma(3/2+1)}{\Gamma(2+3/2+1)} t^{3/2+2}$$

$$= \frac{\Gamma(3/2+1)}{\Gamma(7/2+1)} t^{7/2}$$

$$= \frac{6}{35} \frac{\Gamma(3/2)}{\Gamma(3/2+1)} t^{7/2}$$

$$= \frac{4}{35} t^{7/2}.$$

**Lemma 1.2.3.** Suppose g be an integrable function and  $\kappa, \zeta > 0$ . Then the composition of integrals is:

$$I_a^{\kappa} I_a^{\zeta} g(t) = I_a^{\kappa+\zeta} g(t) = I_a^{\zeta} I_a^{\kappa} g(t).$$

**Definition 1.2.4.** [35] Assume a function g defined on [a, b] and  $n - 1 \le \kappa < n$ . Then Riemann-Liouville derivative of order  $\kappa$  is:

$$D_a^{\kappa}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\kappa)} \frac{d^n}{dt^n} \int_a^t (t-z)^{n-\kappa-1} g(z) dz.$$

**Lemma 1.2.5.** When  $g(t) = t^{\zeta}$ , then

$$D_0^{\kappa} t^{\zeta} = \frac{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)}{\Gamma(\zeta - \kappa + 1)} t^{\zeta - \kappa}, \ \zeta > -1.$$

**Example 1.2.2.** For  $\kappa = 1/2$  and  $\zeta = 1$ ,

$$D_0^{1/2}t = \frac{\Gamma(2)}{\Gamma(3/2)}t^{1/2}$$
$$= 2\sqrt{\frac{t}{\pi}}.$$

**Theorem 1.2.1.** Assume that  $C^n[a,b]$  be a space of all continuous and n-times differentiable functions. Let  $g \in C^n[a,b]$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $h \in C^1[a,b]$  and  $\kappa \in (n-1,n)$ . Then results given below hold:

(i)  $D_a^{\kappa} I_a^{\kappa} h(t) = h(t)$ .

(ii) 
$$I_a^{\kappa} D_a^{\kappa} g(t) = g(t) - \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} [D^{\kappa-j-1} g(t)]_{t=a} \frac{(t-a)^{\kappa-j-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa-j)}.$$

The Caputo fractional derivative was presented by Caputo in 1967. First nth derivative of function is evaluated then fractional integral is applied.

**Definition 1.2.6.** Suppose  $n-1 < \kappa \le n$  and g be n-times differentiable function. Then Caputo fractional derivative of order  $\kappa$  is stated as:

$${}^{c}D_{a}^{\kappa}g(t) = I_{a}^{n-\kappa}D_{a}^{n}g(t)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\kappa)}\int_{a}^{t}(t-z)^{n-\kappa-1}g^{(n)}(z)dz.$$

The Caputo derivative of fractional integral is

$$^{c}D_{a}^{\kappa}I_{a}^{\kappa}g(t)=g(t),$$

This shows that  ${}^c\!D_a^{\kappa}$  is left inverse of  $I_a^{\kappa}$ .

The fractional integral of Caputo derivative is

$$I_a^{\kappa} {}^c D_a^{\kappa} g(t) = g(t) - \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{t^j}{j!} g^{(j)}(a).$$

#### 1.2.1 Generalized Integral and Derivative

In order to resolve the overwhelming number of definitions, we should consider general operators, we can choose specific kernels and some sort of differential operator to obtain classical fractional integrals and derivatives. However, due to the arbitrary existence of the kernel, most of the basic laws of the derivative operator can not be acquired. In order to overcome this trouble, another solution is to consider a special case with kernel of form  $k(t,z) = \xi(t) - \xi(z)$  and the derivative operator is of type  $\frac{1}{\xi'(t)} \frac{d}{dt}$ .

**Definition 1.2.7.** [3] Suppose a finite or infinite interval [a, b] and  $\kappa > 0$ , an integrable function g over [a, b],  $\xi \in C^1[a, b]$  is increasing function on [a, b] where  $\forall t \in [a, b]$ ,  $\xi'(t) \neq 0$ . Then generalized fractional integral of function with respect to  $\xi$  is given as follows:

$$I_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_a^t \xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} g(z)dz. \tag{1.2}$$

For  $n = \lfloor \kappa \rfloor + 1$ , the generalized fractional derivative of g with respect to other function  $\xi$  is given by

$$\begin{split} D_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) &= \left(\frac{1}{\xi'(t)}\frac{d}{dt}\right)^n I_a^{n-\kappa,\xi}g(t) \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\kappa)} \left(\frac{1}{\xi'(t)}\frac{d}{dt}\right)^n \int_a^t \xi'(z) (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{n-\kappa-1} g(z) dz. \end{split}$$

The Hadamard and Riemann-Liouville fractional operators can be obtained by setting  $\xi(t) = \ln t$  and  $\xi(t) = t$  respectively.

**Lemma 1.2.8.** [3] If  $\kappa, \zeta > 0$ , then the semigroup property holds:

$$I_a^{\kappa,\xi}I_a^{\zeta,\xi}g(t)=I_a^{\kappa+\zeta,\xi}g(t)=I_a^{\zeta,\xi}I_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t).$$

By shifting the ordinary derivative with fractional order derivative, Caputo redeveloped Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative known as Caputo fractional derivative. Here we also introduce a generalized Caputo-type operator.

**Definition 1.2.9.** Let  $\kappa > 0$ , on [a, b],  $\xi$  is increasing and continuous function with  $\xi'(t) \neq 0$ ,  $\forall t \in [a, b]$  and  $g \in C^n[a, b]$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then generalized Caputo derivative of order  $\kappa$  is specified as:

$${}^{c}D_{a}^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = I_{a}^{n-\kappa,\xi} \left(\frac{1}{\xi'(t)}\frac{d}{dt}\right)^{n}g(t),$$

here for  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n = \kappa$  and for  $\kappa \notin \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n = \lfloor \kappa \rfloor + 1$ .

For convenience, let

$$g_{\xi}^{[n]}(t) = \left(\frac{1}{\xi'(t)}\frac{d}{dt}\right)^n g(t).$$

If  $n = \kappa \in \mathbb{N}$ , then from definition we have

$${}^{c}D_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = g_{\xi}^{[n]}(t),$$

and if  $\kappa \notin \mathbb{N}$  then

$${}^{c}D_{a}^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\kappa)} \int_{a}^{t} \xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{n-\kappa-1} g_{\xi}^{[n]}(z) dz.$$

**Lemma 1.2.10.** Suppose  $g:[a,b]\to\mathbb{R}$  and  $\kappa>0$ , then following results hold:

(i) If  $g \in C^1[a, b]$ , then

$${}^{c}D_{a}^{\kappa,\xi}I_{a}^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = g(t).$$

(ii) If  $g \in C^{n-1}[a, b]$  then following holds

$$I_a^{\kappa,\xi} {}^{c}D_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = g(t) - \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} c_j(\xi(t) - \xi(a))^j,$$

with

$$c_j = \frac{g_{\xi}^{[j]}(a)}{j!}.$$

In particular, when  $\kappa \in (0,1)$ 

$${}^{c}D_{a}^{\kappa,\xi}I_{a}^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = g(t) - g(a).$$

For the existence of integral (1.2), we must have  $\kappa > 0$ . Moreover under certain assumptions we have

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0} I_a^{\kappa,\xi} g(t) = g(t). \tag{1.3}$$

If g is differentiable and continuous for  $t \ge 0$  then the proof of (1.3) is simple. In this case the integration by parts will result into

$$I_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = \frac{(\xi(t) - \xi(a))^{\kappa}g(a)}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} \int_a^t (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa}g'(z)dz$$

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0} I_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = g(a) + \int_a^t g'(z)dz = g(t).$$

If g(t) is only continuous for  $t \ge a$ , then proof of (1.3) is a bit lengthy. For this write (1.2) in form given below

$$I_{a}^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_{a}^{t} \xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa-1}(g(z) - g(t))dz + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_{a}^{t} \xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa-1}g(t)dz$$

$$I_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_a^{t-\delta} \xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa-1}(g(z) - g(t))dz$$
 (1.4)

$$+\frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_{t-\delta}^{t} \xi'(z) (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} (g(z) - g(t)) dz$$

$$+ \frac{g(t) (\xi(t) - \xi(a))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)}.$$
(1.5)

Consider (1.4)

$$|I_1| \leq \frac{N}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_a^{t-\delta} \xi'(z) (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} dz.$$

After integration and using limit  $\kappa \to 0$  we have

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0} |I_1| = 0.$$

Let us consider the integral (1.5). Since g is continuous, for every  $\delta > 0$  there exist  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$|g(z) - g(t)| < \varepsilon$$
.

So, result obtained is

$$|I_2| < \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_{t-\delta}^t \xi'(z) (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} |g(z) - g(t)| dz$$
  
$$< \frac{\epsilon}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_{t-\delta}^t \xi'(z) (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} dz = \frac{\epsilon}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} (\xi(t) - \xi(t - \delta))^{\kappa}.$$

Taking  $\epsilon \to 0$  as  $\delta \to 0$  we get for all  $\kappa \ge 0$ ,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} |I_2| = 0.$$

Considering

$$|I_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t)| \leq |I_1| + |I_2| + |g(t)| \left| \frac{(\xi(t) - \xi(a))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} \right|$$

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0} |I_a^{\kappa,\xi}g(t)| = |g(t)|.$$

So,

$$\lim_{\kappa \to 0} I_a^{\kappa,\xi} g(t) = g(t),$$

holds if for  $t \geq a$ , g is continuous.

#### 1.3 Results from Analysis

In this section, few concepts from real analysis are presented that are needed for existence of solution for fractional Langevin equation.

**Definition 1.3.1.** Assume vector space V and suppose for each element  $g \in V$  there is a non-negative number ||g|| assigned in such that  $\forall g, h \in V$ :

- (i) ||g|| = 0 iff g = 0;
- (ii) ||cg|| = |c|||g|| for any scalar c;
- (iii)  $||g + h|| \le ||g|| + ||h||$ .

The quantity ||g|| is called the norm of g and V is known as the norm space.

**Definition 1.3.2.** Suppose a subset X of Banach space  $\mathfrak{B}$  and functional S with domain  $X \subset \mathfrak{B}$ , that is S be a mapping from X to  $\mathfrak{B}$ . Then S is equicontinuous on X iff, for each  $\epsilon > 0$  there is  $\delta > 0$  such that  $|S(g) - S(k)| < \epsilon$  for all  $g, k \in X$  whenever  $|g - k| \le \delta$ .

**Example 1.3.1.**  $S = \{h : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R} | h(\pi) = c\pi, c \in (0,1)\}$ , then S is eqicontinuous. Choose  $\delta = \epsilon > 0$  for given  $\epsilon > 0$ 

$$|h(\pi_1) - h(\pi_2)| = c|\pi_1 - \pi_2| < |\pi_1 - \pi_2| < \epsilon.$$

**Definition 1.3.3.** Assume X be the subset of Banach space  $\mathfrak{B}$ . If any class of open sets covering X has a finite subclass covering X, then X is compact..

If closure of X is compact then the X is said to be relatively compact.

**Definition 1.3.4.** An element of function's domain that is mapped to itself by function is called a fixed point. t is fixed point of g if g(t) = t.

In following theorem Q represents a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and C(Q) is Banach space of real valued continuous functions with maximum norm.

**Theorem 1.3.1.** [17] Assume a bounded subset Q of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $X \subset C(Q)$ . Then X is relatively compact iff it is equicontinuous and bounded.

**Theorem 1.3.2.** [17] Suppose Z be a convex, nonempty and compact subset of Banach space  $\mathfrak{B}$ , also assume  $A:Z\to Z$  maps Z to itself and is compact. Then a fixed point of A exists in Z.

**Theorem 1.3.3.** [31] Consider a closed, nonempty and convex subset X of a Banach space Y. Suppose U, V be operators so that (i)  $Up + Vq \in X$  for  $p, q \in X$ . (ii) V is a contraction mapping. (iii) U is continuous and compact. Then there exist  $r \in X$  such that r = Ur + Vr.

**Lemma 1.3.5.** [16] Assume  $\mathfrak{B}$  is Banach space and cone  $T \subseteq \mathfrak{B}$ . Also assume  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$  be open discs in  $\mathfrak{B}$ . Also  $0 \in \omega_1$  and  $\overline{\omega_1} \subset \omega_2$ . Furthermore, assume  $G: T \cap (\overline{\omega_2}/\omega_1) \to T$  be completely continuous operator. Then either

- (i)  $||Gq|| \le ||q||$  for  $q \in Z \cap \partial \omega_1$  and  $||Gq|| \ge ||q||$  for  $q \in Z \cap \partial \omega_2$ , or
- (ii)  $||Gq|| \ge ||q||$  for  $q \in Z \cap \partial \omega_1$  and  $||Gq|| \le ||q||$  for  $q \in Z \cap \partial \omega_2$ .

Then there exist at least one fixed point of operator G in  $Z \cap (\overline{\omega}_2/\omega_1)$ .

### Chapter 2

### Generalized Fractional Langevin Equation

Langevin equation is a basic Brownian motion principle to explain evolution of physical processes in evolving conditions [12, 39], that was presented and formulated by Paul Langevin [21], in 1908. Numerous generalizations of Langevin equation have been formulated and researched by many researchers around the globe due to the advancement of fractional derivatives [18,22,23,26]. Some useful applications of equation are studying the fluid suspensions, photoelectron counting, modeling the evacuation processes and protein dynamics.

In [15], Fa found a fractional Langevin equation involving Riemann–Liouville fractional derivative to analyze deviations, position and velocity similarity functions of the device. Fractional Langevin equation is involved in the modeling of fundamental motor control system [36].

Bashir Ahmad and Jaun J. Nieto in [5], discussed existence of solution for following boundary value problem,

$$^{c}D_{0}^{\zeta}(^{c}D_{0}^{\kappa} + \lambda)z(l) = g(l, z(l)), \ 0 < l < 1,$$
  
$$z(0) = \gamma_{1}, \ z(1) = \gamma_{2},$$

where  $0 < \kappa, \zeta \le 1$ ,  $\lambda$  is a real number,  $^cD$  is Caputo derivative,  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in X$  and  $g: [0,1] \times X \to X$ . X is a Banach space of all continuous functions.

In [6], the authors examined existence of solution for following three point boundary

value problem with Langevin equation,

$$^{c}D_{0}^{\zeta}(^{c}D_{0}^{\kappa} + \lambda)s(z) = \phi(z, s(z)), \ 0 < z < 1,$$
  
 $s(0) = 0, \ s(\eta) = 0, \ s(1) = 0, \ 0 < \eta < 1,$ 

where  $0 < \kappa \le 1$ ,  $1 < \zeta \le 2$ ,  $\lambda$  is a real number, a continuous function  $\phi : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $^cD$  is Caputo fractional derivative.

In [11], Nieto and Baghani studied the existence of solutions for following Langevin equation,

$$^{c}D^{\zeta}(^{c}D^{\kappa} + \lambda)z(w) = \varkappa(s, z(w)), \ 0 \le s \le 1,$$
  
$$z(0) = z(1) = 0, \ D^{2\kappa}z(1) + \lambda D^{\kappa}z(1) = 0,$$

where  $0 < \kappa \le 1, \ 1 < \zeta \le 2, \ ^cD$  is Caputo derivative,  $\varkappa : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous function,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $D^{2\kappa}$  is sequential derivative given by:

$$D^{k\kappa}u = D^{\kappa}D^{(k-1)\kappa}u, \ k = 2, 3, ....$$

Authors in [1], investigated uniqueness and existence result for problem stated below,

$$^{c}D_{a}^{\kappa,\phi}z(r) = g(r,z(r)), \ r \in [a,b],$$
  
 $z_{\phi}^{[k]}(a) = z_{a}^{k}, \ z_{\phi}^{n-1}(b) = z_{b}, \ k = 0,1,...,n-2,$ 

where  ${}^cD_a^{\kappa,\phi}$  is  $\phi$ -Caputo fractional derivative of order  $n-1 < \kappa < n, z_a^k, z_b \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $g: [a,b] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous function.

Our goal in this chapter is to analyze the generalized fractional Langevin equation with two different generalized fractional derivatives. Specifically, we considered problem given below,

$$D_0^{\zeta,\xi}(D_0^{\kappa,\xi} + \lambda)x(t) = g(t, x(t)), \ 0 < t < 1,$$
  

$$x(0) = \gamma_1, \ x(1) = \gamma_2,$$
(2.1)

where  $0 < \kappa, \zeta < 1$ , D is Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative,  $g : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\lambda$  is real number,  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(\mathbb{R}, \|.\|)$  be a Banach space and  $A = C([0,1], \mathbb{R})$  is Banach space of continuous functions with uniformly convergent topology with  $\|x\| = \max |x(t)|$ ,  $t \in [0,1]$ .

We found a general solution to the problem (2.1) in Lemma 2.1.1. We used the Banach Contraction mapping principle in section 2.1 for existence of a unique solution for problem (2.1) and in section 2.2, for existence of at least one solution for problem (2.1), Krasnoselskii's theorem is employed.

The linear problem related to (2.1) is given by,

$$D_0^{\zeta,\xi}(D_0^{\kappa,\xi} + \lambda)x(t) = \sigma(t), \ 0 < t < 1,$$
  

$$x(0) = \gamma_1, \ x(1) = \gamma_2,$$
(2.2)

here  $0 < \kappa, \zeta \le 1$  and  $\sigma \in C[0, 1]$ .

#### 2.1 Existence of Unique Solution

We intended to check existence of unique solution for problem (2.1) in this section. We will first find an integral form of equation for (2.1) that will further allow us to verify the uniqueness of the solution.

**Lemma 2.1.1.** The problem (2.2) has following solution:

$$x(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \sigma(w) dw - \lambda x(z) \right] dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \lambda x(z) - \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \sigma(w) dw \right] dz + \gamma_{2} \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}.$$

$$(2.3)$$

*Proof.* Consider the linear differential equation in (2.2)

$$D_0^{\zeta,\xi}(D_0^{\kappa,\xi} + \lambda)x(t) = \sigma(t). \tag{2.4}$$

Applying  $I_0^{\zeta,\xi}$  and  $I_0^{\kappa,\xi}$  respectively and using the following property

$$I_0^{\gamma,\xi} D_0^{\gamma,\xi} g(t) = g(t) - c_0(\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\gamma - 1}.$$

We obtained following general solution for equation (2.4)

$$x(t) = c_1(\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\kappa - 1} - \lambda I^{\kappa, \xi} x(t) + \frac{c_0 \Gamma(\zeta)}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} \times (\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} + I^{\kappa + \zeta, \xi} \sigma(t).$$

$$(2.5)$$

Using the boundary conditions for linear equation (2.2), we get  $c_1 = 0$  and

$$\frac{c_0\Gamma(\zeta)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} = \frac{1}{(\xi(1)-\xi(0))^{\kappa+\zeta-1}} \left[ \lambda I^{\kappa,\xi} x(1) - I^{\kappa+\zeta,\xi} \sigma(1) + \gamma_2 \right].$$

Using these values in equation (2.5)

$$x(t) = -\lambda I^{\kappa,\xi} x(t) + I^{\kappa+\zeta,\xi} \sigma(t) + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa+\zeta-1} [\lambda I^{\kappa,\xi} x(1) - I^{\kappa+\zeta,\xi} \sigma(1) + \gamma_2].$$

After simplification, we obtained the general solution as required in equation (2.3).

In following theorem, we will verify the existence of unique solution for problem (2.1).

**Theorem 2.1.1.** Suppose  $g:[0,1]\times\mathbb{R}\to\mathbb{R}$  be a continuous function and also satisfies following inequality

$$|g(t,x) - g(t,y)| \le \eta |x - y|, \ \forall \ x, y \in \mathbb{R}, \ t \in [0,1].$$
 (2.6)

Then unique solution of problem (2.1) exists if  $\Upsilon < 1$ , where

$$\Upsilon = \left[ \frac{2\eta(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{2|\lambda|(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} \right].$$

*Proof.* Define set  $U_r = \{x \in A : ||x|| \le r\}$ , where

$$r \ge \frac{1}{1-\nu} \left[ \frac{2N(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + |\gamma_2| \right], \ \Upsilon \le \nu < 1.$$

Also state  $||g(w)|| = \max_{w \in [0,1]} |g(w)|$  and set  $\max_{w \in [0,1]} |g(w,0)| = N$ . Define  $O: A \to A$  by

$$(Ox)(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} g(w, x(w)) dw - \lambda x(z) \right] dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \lambda x(z) - \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} g(w, x(w)) dw \right] dz + \gamma_{2} \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} |g(w, x(w))| dw \right. \\ + |\lambda||x(z)| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ |\lambda||x(z)| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} |g(w, x(w))| dw \right] dz + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (|g(w, x(w)) - g(w, 0)| + |g(w, 0)|) dw + |\lambda||x(z)| \right] dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \\ \times \left[ |\lambda||x(z)| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (|g(w, x(w)) - g(w, 0)| + |g(w, 0)|) dw \right] dz \\ + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\eta|x(w)| + |g(w, 0)|) dw \right] dz \\ + |\lambda||x(z)| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} - \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ |\lambda||x(z)| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\eta|x(w)| + |g(w, 0)|) dw \right] dz \\ + |\lambda||x|| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} - \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ |\lambda||x| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\eta|x| + N) dw \right] dz \\ + |\lambda||r| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} - \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \left[ |\lambda| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ |\lambda| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ |\lambda| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ |\lambda| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\eta(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}} \right] |\lambda|t| \\ + |\lambda|t| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} - \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \left[ |\lambda| - \xi(0) \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}} \right] |\lambda|t| \\ + |\lambda|t| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} - \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \left[ |\lambda| - \xi(0) \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}} \right] |\lambda|t| \\ + |\lambda|t| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} - \left[ \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1$$

After integration we get

|(Ox)(t)|

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ (\eta r + N) \frac{(\xi(z) - \xi(0))^{\zeta}}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} + |\lambda| r \right] dz + \\ \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ (\eta r + N) \frac{(\xi(z) - \xi(0))^{\zeta}}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} + |\lambda| r \right] dz + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ + |\lambda| r \right] dz + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ = \frac{\eta r + N}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(z) - \xi(0))^{\zeta} dz + \frac{|\lambda| r}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \\ \times \int_{0}^{t} \xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \frac{\eta r + N}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} \\ \times \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(z) - \xi(0))^{\zeta} dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ \times \frac{|\lambda| r}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_{0}^{1} \xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} dz + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}.$$

After integration and using the following result

$$I^{\kappa,\xi}(\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\zeta} = \frac{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} (\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\zeta + \kappa}.$$

We obtain

|(Ox)(t)|

$$\leq \frac{\eta r + N}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} (\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta} + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\
\times \frac{\eta r + N}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} (\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta} + \frac{|\lambda| r}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} (\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\kappa} \\
+ \frac{|\lambda| r}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} (\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa} + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}.$$
(2.7)

Since  $\xi$  is an increasing function and  $t \in [0, 1]$  so,

$$\xi(t) \le \xi(1)$$
  
 $\xi(t) - \xi(0) \le \xi(1) - \xi(0).$  (2.8)

Using (2.8) in (2.7), we obtain

$$||Ox|| \leq \frac{2(\eta r + N)}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} (\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta} + \frac{2|\lambda|r}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} (\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa} + |\gamma_2|$$
  
$$\leq (\Upsilon + 1 - \nu)r \leq r.$$

For every  $t \in [0,1]$  and  $x, y \in A$ , we will show

$$||(Ox)(t) - (Oy)(t)|| \le \Upsilon ||x - y||,$$

$$\begin{split} (Ox)(t) - (Oy)(t) \\ &= \int_0^t \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ \int_0^z \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} [g(w, x(w)) \\ &- g(w, y(w))] dw \bigg] dz + \int_0^t \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \lambda(y(z) - x(z)) dz \\ &+ \bigg[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \bigg]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \lambda(x(z) - y(z)) dz \\ &+ \bigg[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \bigg]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ \int_0^z \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \\ &\times [g(w, y(w)) - g(w, x(w))] dw \bigg] dz \end{split}$$

$$|(Ox)(t) - (Oy)(t)|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} |g(w, x(w)) - g(w, y(w))| dw \right] dz + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz$$

$$+ \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz$$

$$+ \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \times |g(w, x(w)) - g(w, y(w))| dw \right] dz.$$

Rearranging and using inequality (2.6), we get

$$\begin{split} &|(Ox)(t) - (Oy)(t)| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \eta |x(w) - y(w)| dw \bigg] dz + \\ &\int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz + \bigg[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \bigg]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz + \bigg[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \bigg]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \eta |x(w) - y(w)| dw \bigg] dz \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \eta |x - y| dw \bigg] dz \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| ||x - y|| dz + \bigg[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \bigg]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| ||x - y|| dz + \bigg[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \bigg]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)(\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \eta ||x - y|| dw \bigg] dz. \end{split}$$

After integration

$$|(Ox)(t) - (Oy)(t)|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \frac{(\xi(z) - \xi(0))^{\zeta}}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} \eta \| x - y \| \right] dz + \frac{(\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)}$$

$$\times |\lambda| \| x - y \| + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \frac{(\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} |\lambda| \| x - y \|$$

$$+ \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \frac{(\xi(z) - \xi(0))^{\zeta}}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} \right] dz$$

$$= \frac{\eta \| x - y \|}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(z) - \xi(0))^{\zeta} dz + \frac{(\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)}$$

$$\times |\lambda| \| x - y \| + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \frac{(\xi(t) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} |\lambda| \| x - y \| + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \frac{\eta \| x - y \|}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)(\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(z) - \xi(0))^{\zeta} dz.$$

Integration yields the following result

$$\|(Ox)(t) - (Oy)(t)\| \le \left[ \frac{2\eta(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{2|\lambda|(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} \right] \|x - y\|$$

$$= \Upsilon \|x - y\|.$$

As  $\Upsilon < 1$ , then O is a contraction. Thus unique solution exists for problem (2.1).  $\square$ 

#### 2.2 Existence of Solution

We have applied krasnoselskii's theorem to check existence of at least one solution for problem (2.1).

**Theorem 2.2.1.** Assume that bounded subsets of  $[0,1] \times \mathbb{R}$  are mapped to compact subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$  by a continuous function  $g:[0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ . Also suppose Lipschitz condition is satisfied

$$|g(t,x) - g(t,y)| \le \eta |x - y|, \ \forall \ t \in [0,1], \ x, y \in \mathbb{R}.$$

If

$$\left[ \frac{|\lambda|(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} \right] \le 1.$$

Then at least one solution exists on interval [0,1] for problem (2.1).

*Proof.* Suppose  $U_r = \{x \in A : ||x|| \le r\}$ , where

$$r \geq \frac{\Gamma(\kappa+1)[2N(\xi(1)-\xi(0))^{\kappa+\zeta}+|\gamma_2|]}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)\Gamma(\kappa+1)-2\eta\Gamma(\kappa+1)(\xi(1)-\xi(0)^{\kappa+\zeta}-2|\lambda|\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)(\xi(1)-\xi(0))^{\kappa}}$$

Now define operators on  $U_r$  as follows

$$(\omega x)(t) = \int_0^t \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_0^z \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} g(w, x(w)) dw - \lambda x(z) \right] dz,$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} (\theta x)(t) &= & \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \lambda x(z) \right. \\ &\left. - \int_0^z \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} g(w, x(w)) dw \right] dz + \gamma_2 \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}. \end{aligned}$$

Let  $x, y \in U_r$ , then  $|(\omega x)(t) + (\theta y)(t)|$ 

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} |g(w, x(w))| dw \right. \\ + |\lambda| |x(z)| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ |\lambda| |y(z)| \right. \\ + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} |g(w, y(w))| dw \right] dz + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \\ \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} \left( |g(w, x(w)) - g(w, 0)| \right. \\ + |g(w, 0)| \right) dw + |\lambda| |x(z)| dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \\ \left. \left[ |\lambda| |y(z)| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} \left( |g(w, y(w)) - g(w, 0)| - |g(w, 0)| \right) dw \right] dz \\ + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} . \end{cases}$$

Let us define  $||g(w)|| = \max_{w \in [0,1]} |g(w)|$  and set  $\max_{w \in [0,1]} |g(w,0)| = N$ . So,  $|(\omega x)(t) + (\theta y)(t)|$ 

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (\eta \|x\| + N) dw \right. \\ \left. + |\lambda| \|x\| \right] dz + \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \times \\ \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (\eta \|y\| + N) dw + |\lambda| \|y\| \right] dz + |\gamma_{2}| \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}.$$

After integration and using (2.8), we have

$$\|\omega x + \theta y\| \leq \frac{2(\eta r + N)}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} (\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta} + \frac{2|\lambda|r}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} (\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa} + |\gamma_2| < r.$$

Hence  $\omega x + \theta y \in U_r$ . Now we are going to prove that  $\omega$  is continuous and compact. The

continuity of  $\omega$  is implied by continuity of g. Also  $\omega$  is bounded on  $U_r$ .

$$\begin{split} |(\omega x)(t)| & \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} |g(w, x(w))| dw \\ & + |\lambda| |x(z)| \bigg] dz \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (|g(w, x(w)) - g(w, 0)| + |g(w, 0)|) dw + |\lambda| |x(z)| \bigg] dz \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (\eta ||x|| + N) dw \\ & + |\lambda| ||x|| \bigg] dz \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (\eta r + N) dw \\ & + |\lambda| r \bigg] dz. \end{split}$$

After integration and using the inequality (2.8), we obtained the following result

$$\|\omega\| \le \frac{(\eta r + N)(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{|\lambda|r(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)}.$$

To check the compactness of  $\omega$ , we will first show that  $\omega$  is equicontinuous.

$$|(\omega x)(t_a) - (\omega x)(t_b)|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t_{a}} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t_{a}) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} |g(w, x(w))| dw + |\lambda| |x(z)| \right] dz + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t_{b}) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} \times |g(w, x(w))| dw + |\lambda| |x(z)| \right] dz$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t_{a}} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t_{a}) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (|g(w, x(w)) - g(w, 0)| + |g(w, 0)|) dw + |\lambda| |x(z)| \right] dz + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t_{b}) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \\ \times \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (|g(w, x(w)) - g(w, 0)| + |g(w, 0)|) dw + |\lambda| |x(z)| \right] dz \\ \leq \int_{0}^{t_{a}} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t_{a}) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (\eta r + N) dw + |\lambda| r \right] dz \\ + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(t_{b}) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} (\eta r + N) dw + |\lambda| r \right] dz.$$

Integrating and simplification gives the following result

$$\|(\omega x)(t_a)-(\omega x)(t_b)\|$$

 $|(\theta x)(t) - (\theta y)(t)|$ 

$$\leq \frac{\eta r + N}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} (\xi(t_a) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta} + \frac{|\lambda|r}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} (\xi(t_a) - \xi(0))^{\kappa} + \frac{\eta r + N}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} (\xi(t_b) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta} + \frac{|\lambda|r}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} (\xi(t_b) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}.$$

The continuity of  $(\xi(t_a) - \xi(0))^{\kappa+\zeta}$ ,  $(\xi(t_a) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}$ ,  $(\xi(t_b) - \xi(0))^{\kappa+\zeta}$ ,  $(\xi(t_b) - \xi(0))^{\kappa}$  implies the continuity of  $\omega$ . For every t,  $\omega(\digamma(t))$  is relatively compact in  $\mathbb{R}$  because g maps bounded subsets to relatively compact subsets where  $\digamma$  is bounded subset of A. Hence on  $U_r$ ,  $\omega$  is proved relatively compact. Thus using theorem 1.3.1,  $\omega$  is compact on  $U_r$ . Now we will show that  $\theta$  is a contraction mapping.

$$\leq \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} \right] \\ \times |g(w, x(w)) - g(w, y(w))| dw + |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz$$

$$\leq \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_{0}^{z} \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} \right] \\ \times |x(w) - y(w)| dw + |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz$$

$$\leq \left[ \frac{\xi(t) - \xi(0)}{\xi(1) - \xi(0)} \right]^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{\xi'(z)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (\xi(1) - \xi(z))^{\kappa - 1} \left[ \int_0^z \frac{\xi'(w)}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (\xi(z) - \xi(w))^{\zeta - 1} \right] \\
\times \|x - y\| dw + |\lambda| \|x - y\| dz.$$

After integration and using (2.8) we arrived at the following result

$$\|(\theta x)(t) - (\theta y)(t)\| \le \left[ \frac{(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa} |\lambda|}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{(\xi(1) - \xi(0))^{\kappa + \zeta}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} \right] \|x - y\|.$$

Since all axioms of Theorem 1.3.3 are fulfilled, hence at least one solution exists for problem (2.1) on [0,1].

#### Example 2.2.1. Consider

$$D^{\zeta,\xi}(D^{\kappa,\xi} - \lambda)x(t) = \frac{1}{(t+2)^2} \left(\frac{|x|}{|x|+2} + 1\right), \ 0 < t < 1,$$

$$x(0) = \gamma_1, \ x(1) = \gamma_2,$$
(2.9)

here  $\kappa = 1/2, \ \zeta = 2/3, \ \lambda = -1/2$  and

$$g(t, x(t)) = \frac{1}{(t+2)^2} \left( \frac{|x|}{|x|+2} + 1 \right).$$

Here

$$|g(t, x(t)) - g(t, y(t))| \le \frac{1}{4} |x(t) - y(t)|.$$

Also for 0 < t < 1,  $\xi(t) = 2t + 1$  is increasing function.

Further

$$k = \frac{18 \times 2^{7/6}}{7\Gamma(1/6)} + \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} < 1.$$

So, unique solution exists for problem (2.9) on interval [0, 1] by using Theorem 2.1.1.

### Chapter 3

# Existence of Positive Solution for Fractional Langevin Equations

As a significant area of study, fractional differential equations have appeared. Fractional differential equations exist in a broad range of disciplines namely mechanics, viscoelasticity, morphology, blood flow phenomena, control theory, polymer rheology, etc. Check [4,7,8,20] for more details. In [9,10] Ahmad et al. examined uniqueness and existence of nonlinear fractional differential and integro-differential equation solutions with number of boundary conditions employing fixed point theorems. Recent study [34], addressed uniqueness and existence result for solutions of nonlinear fractional differential equations for Riemann-Liouville form under generalized non-local boundary condition. Zhi-Wei Lv, in [24] implemented fixed-point theorems for determining existence of positive solutions for system of fractional differential equations. Langevin equation has a long-term impact on research. Fresh findings on the Langevin equations throughout the diversity of boundary value conditions were already documented, see [28, 29, 32].

In [38], Shuqin Zhang studied the multiplicity and existence of positive solution for problem given below,

$$D_{0+}^{\kappa} \tau(z) = g(z, \tau(z)), \ 0 < z < 1,$$
  
$$\tau(0) + \tau'(0) = 0, \ \tau(1) + \tau'(1) = 0,$$

where  $1 < \kappa \le 2$ ,  $g: [0,1] \times [0,+\infty) \to [0,+\infty)$  is continuous and D is Caputo derivative.

For nonlinear fractional boundary value problem, in [19] authors examined existence result and multiplicity of positive solutions with the help of theory of fixed point theorems on cones,

$$D_{0+}^{\alpha}q = w(s)g(q), \ 0 < s < 1,$$
  
 $q(0) = 0, \ q(1) = 0,$ 

where  $w \in L[0,1]$  is bounded on [0,1] and w(s) > 0 on [1/4,3/4],  $1 < \alpha < 2$ ,  $g \in C(\mathbb{R}^+,\mathbb{R}^+)$  with  $\mathbb{R}^+ = [0,\infty)$  and D is Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative.

For the following delay differential equation, Haiping Ye in [37] studied existence of positive solution by employing upper and lower bounds technique,

$$D^{\alpha}[r(w) - r(0)] = r(w)g(w, r_w), \ w \in [0, P],$$
  
$$r(w) = \eta(w), \ w \in [-\varepsilon, 0],$$

where  $0<\alpha<1,\ \eta\in K,\ g:[0,P]\times K\to\mathbb{R}^+$  be a continuous function. D is Riemann-Liouville derivative.  $K=K([-\varepsilon,0];\mathbb{R}^+)$  is space of continuous functions from  $[-\varepsilon,0]$  to  $\mathbb{R}^+$  with  $\|\eta\|=\max_{-\varepsilon\leq\gamma\leq0}|\eta(\gamma)|,\ r(w)$  is a function in K defined as  $r_w(\gamma)=r(w+\gamma),\ -\varepsilon\leq\gamma\leq0$  and  $\mathbb{R}^+=[0,+\infty).$ 

Encouraged by work on positive solutions as stated above, we find out that there are not much articles so far on existence of positive solutions for fractional Langevin equations. Therefore, here we develop results on uniqueness and existence of positive solutions for nonlinear fractional Langevin equations. First we will study following boundary value problem:

$$D^{\zeta}(D^{\kappa} + \lambda)x(t) + \sigma(t, x(t)) = 0, \ 0 < t < 1,$$
  

$$D^{\kappa}x(0) = 0, \ x(0) = x(1) = 0,$$
(3.1)

where D is Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative. Secondly we will focus on boundary value problem with Caputo fractional derivative stated below:

$${}^{c}D^{\zeta}({}^{c}D^{\kappa} - \widetilde{\lambda})\widetilde{x}(t) = \widetilde{\sigma}(t, \widetilde{x}(t)), \ 0 < t < 1,$$

$${}^{c}D^{\kappa}\widetilde{x}(0) = \widetilde{\lambda}\widetilde{x}(0), \ \widetilde{x}(0) + \widetilde{x}'(0) = 0, \ \widetilde{x}(1) + \widetilde{x}'(1) = 0,$$

$$(3.2)$$

where  ${}^cD$  is Caputo derivative.  $0 < \zeta < 1, \ 1 < \kappa < 2 \text{ and } \lambda, \ \widetilde{\lambda} \in \mathbb{R}^+$ . The nonlinear functions  $\sigma, \ \widetilde{\sigma} : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  are assumed to be continuous.

#### 3.1 Green Functions

First we will find integral form for problems (3.1) and (3.2) that will assist us in finding the Green function.

**Lemma 3.1.1.** The problem (3.1) has following solution:

$$x(t) = -\lambda I^{\kappa} x(t) - I^{\kappa+\zeta} \sigma(t, x(t)) + \lambda t^{\kappa-1} I^{\kappa} x(1) + t^{\kappa-1} I^{\kappa+\zeta} \sigma(1, x(1)). \tag{3.3}$$

*Proof.* Applying  $I^{\zeta}$  on both sides of (3.1) and using Theorem 1.2.1

$$(D^{\kappa} + \lambda)x(t) = -I^{\zeta}\sigma(t, x(t)) - c_1 t^{\zeta - 1}, \ c_1 \in \mathbb{R}$$
  
$$D^{\kappa}x(t) = -\lambda x(t) - I^{\zeta}\sigma(t, x(t)) - c_1 t^{\zeta - 1}.$$
(3.4)

By using  $D^{\kappa}x(0)=0$  on (3.4), we obtained  $c_1=0$ .

$$D^{\kappa}x(t) = -\lambda x(t) - I^{\zeta}\sigma(t, x(t)).$$

Applying  $I^{\kappa}$  to both sides

$$x(t) = -\lambda I^{\kappa} x(t) - I^{\kappa + \zeta} \sigma(t, x(t)) - c_2 t^{\kappa - 1} - c_3 t^{\kappa - 2}, \ c_2, c_3 \in \mathbb{R}.$$

By x(0) = 0 there is  $c_3 = 0$  and x(1) = 0 yields

$$c_2 = -\lambda I^{\kappa} x(1) - I^{\kappa + \zeta} \sigma(1, x(1)).$$

Therefore, the integral form of (3.1) is

$$x(t) = -\lambda I^{\kappa} x(t) - I^{\kappa+\zeta} \sigma(t,x(t)) + \lambda t^{\kappa-1} I^{\kappa} x(1) + t^{\kappa-1} I^{\kappa+\zeta} \sigma(1,x(1)).$$

We can write it as

$$\begin{split} x(t) &= \int_0^t \frac{-(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ \lambda x(z) + \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \sigma(w,x(w)) dw \bigg] dz \\ &+ t^{\kappa-1} \bigg[ \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ \lambda x(z) + \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \sigma(w,x(w)) dw \bigg] dz \bigg]. \end{split}$$

**Lemma 3.1.2.** Following solution exists for problem (3.2):

$$\widetilde{x}(t) = \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(t) + \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(1) + \widetilde{\lambda} t I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(1) + \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa-1} \widetilde{x}(1) - \widetilde{\lambda} t I^{\kappa-1} \widetilde{x}(1) + I^{\kappa+\zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(t, \widetilde{x}(t)) + I^{\kappa+\zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)) + t I^{\kappa+\zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)) - t I^{\kappa+\zeta-1} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)) + I^{\kappa+\zeta-1} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)).$$

$$(3.5)$$

*Proof.* Apply  $I^{\zeta}$  on both sides of (3.2)

$$({}^{c}D^{\kappa} - \widetilde{\lambda})\widetilde{x}(t) = I^{\zeta}\widetilde{\sigma}(t, \widetilde{x}(t)) - c_{0}, \ c_{0} \in \mathbb{R}$$

$${}^{c}D^{\kappa}\widetilde{x}(t) = \widetilde{\lambda}\widetilde{x}(t) + I^{\zeta}\widetilde{\sigma}(t, \widetilde{x}(t)) - c_{0}.$$
(3.6)

Using  ${}^cD^{\kappa}\widetilde{x}(0) = \widetilde{\lambda}\widetilde{x}(0)$  on (3.6), we get  $c_0 = 0$ .

$$^{c}D^{\kappa}\widetilde{x}(t) = \widetilde{\lambda}\widetilde{x}(t) + I^{\zeta}\widetilde{\sigma}(t,\widetilde{x}(t)).$$

Apply  $I^{\kappa}$  to both sides of above equation

$$\widetilde{x}(t) = \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(t) + I^{\kappa + \zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(t, \widetilde{x}(t)) - c_1 t - c_2. \tag{3.7}$$

Now by using  $\widetilde{x}(0) + \widetilde{x}'(0) = 0$  we attained  $c_2 = -c_1$ , and  $\widetilde{x}(1) + \widetilde{x}'(1) = 0$  yields

$$c_{1} = \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(1) + I^{\kappa+\zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)) + \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa-1} \widetilde{x}(1) + I^{\kappa+\zeta-1} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)),$$

$$c_{2} = -\widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(1) - I^{\kappa+\zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)) - \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa-1} \widetilde{x}(1) - I^{\kappa+\zeta-1} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)).$$

Thus substituting  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  in (3.7) and rearranging the terms we obtained

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{x}(t) = & \quad \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(t) + \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(1) + \widetilde{\lambda} t I^{\kappa} \widetilde{x}(1) + \widetilde{\lambda} I^{\kappa - 1} \widetilde{x}(1) - \widetilde{\lambda} t I^{\kappa - 1} \widetilde{x}(1) + I^{\kappa + \zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(t, \widetilde{x}(t)) \\ & \quad + I^{\kappa + \zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)) + t I^{\kappa + \zeta} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)) - t I^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)) + I^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \widetilde{\sigma}(1, \widetilde{x}(1)). \end{split}$$

**Lemma 3.1.3.** Consider  $h \in C[0,1]$  and  $0 < \zeta < 1, 1 < \kappa < 2$ , then unique solution of problem

$$D^{\zeta}(D^{\kappa} + \lambda)x(t) + h(t) = 0, \ 0 < t < 1,$$
  

$$D^{\kappa}x(0) = 0, \ x(0) = x(1) = 0,$$
(3.8)

is

$$x(t) = \int_0^1 G(t, w)x(w)dw + \int_0^1 H(t, w)h(w)dw,$$
 (3.9)

where

$$G(t,w) = \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} (1-w)^{\kappa-1} t^{\kappa-1} - (t-w)^{\kappa-1}, & w \le t; \\ (1-w)^{\kappa-1} t^{\kappa-1}, & t \le w, \end{array} \right.$$
(3.10)

and

$$H(t,w) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} (1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1} t^{\kappa-1} - (t-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}, & w \le t; \\ (1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1} t^{\kappa-1}, & t \le w. \end{array} \right.$$
(3.11)

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.1.1, we need to prove that (3.3) can be defined in form of (3.9)

$$\begin{split} x(t) & = \int_0^t \frac{\lambda(t^{\kappa-1}(1-w)^{\kappa-1} - (t-w)^{\kappa-1})}{\Gamma(\kappa)} x(w) dw + \int_t^1 \frac{\lambda t^{\kappa-1}(1-w)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} x(w) dw + \\ & \int_0^t \frac{(t^{\kappa-1}(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1} - (t-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1})}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} h(w) dw + \int_t^1 \frac{t^{\kappa-1}(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} h(w) dw \\ x(t) & = \int_0^1 G(t,w) x(w) dw + \int_0^1 H(t,w) h(w) dw. \end{split}$$

**Lemma 3.1.4.** Consider  $\tilde{h} \in C[0,1]$  and  $0 < \zeta < 1, 1 < \kappa < 2$ , then unique solution of problem

$${}^{c}D^{\zeta}({}^{c}D^{\kappa} - \widetilde{\lambda})\widetilde{x}(t) = \widetilde{h}(t), \ 0 < t < 1,$$

$${}^{c}D^{\kappa}\widetilde{x}(0) = \widetilde{\lambda}\widetilde{x}(0), \ \widetilde{x}(0) + \widetilde{x}'(0) = 0, \ \widetilde{x}(1) + \widetilde{x}'(1) = 0,$$

$$(3.12)$$

is

$$\widetilde{x}(t) = \int_0^1 \widetilde{G}(t, w) \widetilde{x}(w) dw + \int_0^1 \widetilde{H}(t, w) \widetilde{h}(w) dw, \tag{3.13}$$

where

$$\widetilde{G}(t,w) = \widetilde{\lambda} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}(1-t)+(t-w)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-2}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa-1)}, & w \le t; \\ \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-2}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa-1)}, & t \le w, \end{array} \right.$$
(3.14)

and

$$\widetilde{H}(t,w) = \begin{cases} \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}(1-t)+(t-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta-1)}, & w \le t; \\ \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta-1)}, & t \le w. \end{cases}$$
(3.15)

*Proof.* We only need to show that (3.5) can be written in form of (3.13).

$$\widetilde{x}(t) = \widetilde{\lambda} \int_0^t \left[ \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}(1-t) + (t-w)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-2}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa-1)} \right] \widetilde{x}(w) dw$$

$$+ \widetilde{\lambda} \int_t^1 \left[ \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-2}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa-1)} \right] \widetilde{x}(w) dw$$

$$+ \int_0^t \left[ \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}(1-t) + (t-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta-1)} \right] \widetilde{h}(w) dw$$

$$+ \int_t^1 \left[ \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}(1-t)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta-1)} \right] \widetilde{h}(w) dw$$

$$\widetilde{x}(t) = \int_0^1 \widetilde{G}(t,w) \widetilde{x}(w) dw + \int_0^1 \widetilde{H}(t,w) \widetilde{h}(w) dw.$$

3.2 Properties of Green Functions

For Green functions, some properties are presented in this section.

**Lemma 3.2.1.** G(t, w) and H(t, w) defined in Equations (3.10), (3.11) satisfy properties given below:

- (i) G(t, w) > 0 and H(t, w) > 0,  $w, t \in (0, 1)$ .
- (ii) For  $\gamma \in C[0,1]$ ,

$$\min_{t \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}]} G(t, w) \geq \frac{\lambda \gamma(w) (1 - w)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)}, \ w \in (0, 1),$$

$$G(t, w) \leq \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (1 - w)^{\kappa - 1}.$$

Also

$$\min_{t \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}]} H(t, w) \geq \frac{\omega}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}, \ w \in (0, 1),$$

$$H(t, w) \leq \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}.$$

*Proof.* (i) Since t < 1 implies  $\frac{w}{t} > w$  thus we obtain  $(1 - \frac{w}{t}) < (1 - w)$  which gives

$$t^{\kappa-1}(1-w)^{\kappa-1} - (t-w)^{\kappa-1} > 0, \ w \le t.$$

Hence G(t, w) > 0,  $w, t \in (0, 1)$ .

(ii) Let

$$g_1(t, w) = [(1 - w)]^{\kappa - 1}t - (t - w)^{\kappa - 1}, \ 0 < w \le t \le 1.$$

Thus

$$g_1(t, w) = [(1 - w)]^{\kappa - 1} t - (t - w)^{\kappa - 1} \le (1 - w)^{\kappa - 1},$$

and this implies

$$G(t, w) \le \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (1 - w)^{\kappa - 1}.$$

Similarly, for  $0 < w \le t < 1$ , we obtain

$$h_1(t, w) = t^{\kappa - 1} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} - (t - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}$$
  
 
$$\leq t^{\kappa - 1} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} \leq (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}.$$

Thus

$$H(t, w) \le \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}.$$

Next, it is noted that for  $w \ge t$ , G(t, w) is increasing with respect to t and for  $w \le t$ , G(t, w) is decreasing with respect to t. Therefore,

$$g_1(t,w) \ge (1-w)^{\kappa-1} (\frac{2}{3})^{\kappa-1} - (\frac{2}{3}-w)^{\kappa-1}, \ t \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}],$$

and

$$\min_{t \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}]} G(t, w) \ge \gamma(w) (1 - w)^{\kappa - 1}, \ w \in (0, 1),$$

where

$$\gamma(w) = \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}(\frac{2}{3})^{\kappa-1} - (\frac{2}{3}-w)^{\kappa-1}}{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}}.$$

Also, let 
$$\omega = \min_{t \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}]} (t^{\kappa - 1} - t^{\kappa + \zeta - 1})$$
, then

$$h_1(t, w) = (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} t^{\kappa - 1} - (t - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}$$

$$\geq (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} t^{\kappa - 1} - (t - tw)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}$$

$$= (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} (t^{\kappa - 1} - t^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}) \geq \omega (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}.$$

Hence

$$\min_{t \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}]} H(t, w) \ge \frac{\omega}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1}, \ w \in (0, 1).$$

**Lemma 3.2.2.** The function  $\widetilde{G}(t, w)$  and  $\widetilde{H}(t, w)$  presented in Equation (3.14) satisfies following conditions:

- (i)  $\widetilde{G}(t, w) > 0$ ,  $t, w \in (0, 1)$ .
- (ii) The Green functions defined by (3.14) and (3.15) has following properties

$$\widetilde{G}(t,w) \le \frac{(\kappa+1)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (1-w)^{\kappa-2},$$

and

$$\widetilde{H}(t,w) \le \frac{(\kappa + \zeta + 1)}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 2}.$$

*Proof.* (i) It is obvious from (3.14) that  $\widetilde{G}(t, w) > 0$   $t, w \in (0, 1)$ .

(ii) Consider

$$\widetilde{g}_{1}(t,w) = \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}(1-t) + (t-w)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(1-t)(1-w)^{\kappa-2}}{\Gamma(\kappa-1)}$$

$$\leq \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-2}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(t-w)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-2}(\kappa-1)}{\Gamma(\kappa-1)}$$

$$\leq \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-2}\kappa}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)}.$$

So, we get

$$\widetilde{G}(t,w) \le \frac{(\kappa+1)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (1-w)^{\kappa-2}.$$

Now let

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{h}_1(t,w) &= \frac{(1-t)(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1} + (t-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} + \frac{(1-t)(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta-1)} \\ &\leq \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} + \frac{(t-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} + \frac{(\kappa+\zeta-1)(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta-1)} \\ &\leq \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}(\kappa+\zeta)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} + \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)}. \end{split}$$

Thus we have

$$\widetilde{H}(t,w) \le \frac{(\kappa+\zeta+1)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} (1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2}.$$

3.3 Existence of Positive Solution

The existence and uniqueness of positive solution for problem (3.1) is verified in this section.

**Theorem 3.3.1.** Suppose a Banach space C = A([0,1],Y) of continuous functions from  $[0,1] \to Y$  provided with uniformly convergent topology with  $||x|| = \max_{t \in [0,1]} |x(t)|$  where (Y,||.||) is a Banach space. Let  $\sigma : [0,1] \times Y \to Y$  be a continuous function which satisfies the following inequality

$$|\sigma(t,x) - \sigma(t,y)| \le k|x-y|, \ \forall \ t \in [0,1], \ x,y \in Y.$$

Then unique solution of problem (3.1) exists if  $\eta < 1$  where

$$\eta = \frac{2k}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{2|\lambda|}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)}.$$

*Proof.* Define operator  $I: C \to C$  as:

$$(Ix)(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \lambda x(z) + \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right] dz$$
$$+ t^{\kappa-1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \lambda x(z) + \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right] dz$$

$$\begin{split} |(Ix)(t)| & \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ |\lambda x(z)| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (|\sigma(w,x(w)) - \sigma(w,0)| \\ & + |\sigma(w,0)|) dw \bigg] dz + t^{\kappa-1} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ |\lambda x(z)| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \\ & \times (|\sigma(w,x(w)) - \sigma(w,0)| + |\sigma(w,0)|) dw \bigg] dz \bigg] \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ |\lambda| |x(z)| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (k|x(w)| + |\sigma(w,0)|) dw \bigg] dz \\ & + t^{\kappa-1} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ |\lambda| |x(z)| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (k|x(w)| + |\sigma(w,0)|) dw \bigg] dz \bigg] \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ |\lambda| ||x|| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (k||x|| + |\sigma(w,0)|) dw \bigg] dz \\ & + t^{\kappa-1} \bigg[ \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \bigg[ |\lambda| ||x|| + \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (k||x|| + |\sigma(w,0)|) dw \bigg] dz \bigg]. \end{split}$$

Define the set  $U_r = \{x \in C : ||x|| \le r\}$  where

$$r \ge \frac{1}{1-\rho} \left( \frac{2R}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)} \right),$$

where  $\rho$  is such that  $\eta \leq \rho < 1$ . also set  $\max_{w \in [0,1]} |\sigma(w,0)| = R$ .

$$|(Ix)(t)| \leq \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ |\lambda| r + (kr+R) \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} dw \right] dz + t^{\kappa-1} \left[ \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ |\lambda| r + (kr+R) \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} dw \right] dz \right].$$

Integrating and using Lemma 1.2.2, we find the result given below

$$||Ix|| \le \frac{2|\lambda|r}{\Gamma(\kappa+1)} + \frac{2kr+R}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)} \le (\eta+1-\rho)r \le r.$$

Now for  $x, y \in C$ ,

$$|(Ix)(t) - (Iy)(t)|$$

$$\leq \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz + \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} |\sigma(w,x(w))| \\ -\sigma(w,y(w)) |dw dz + t^{\kappa-1} \left[ \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz + \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\sigma(w,x(w)) - \sigma(w,y(w))| dw dz \right]$$

$$\leq \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz + \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \times k |x(w) - y(w)| dw dz + t^{\kappa-1} \left[ \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |\lambda| |x(z) - y(z)| dz \right] + \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} k |x(w) - y(w)| dw dz \right].$$

Integration yields result given below

$$|(Ix)(t) - (Iy)(t)|$$

$$\leq \frac{|\lambda| \|x - y\| t^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{k \|x - y\|}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} z^{\zeta} dz + \frac{|\lambda| \|x - y\| t^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{k \|x - y\| t^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\zeta + 1)} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1 - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} z^{\zeta} dz$$

$$= \frac{|\lambda| \|x - y\| t^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{k \|x - y\| t^{\kappa + \zeta}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{|\lambda| \|x - y\| t^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{k \|x - y\| t^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)}$$

Since  $t \in [0, 1]$ , thus

$$||Ix - Iy|| \le \left[\frac{2k}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{2|\lambda|}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)}\right]||x - y||$$
$$= \eta ||x - y||.$$

As  $\eta < 1$ , hence I is contraction. Thus conclusion followed by Contraction mapping principle and hence BVP (3.1) has unique solution.

**Theorem 3.3.2.** Suppose bounded subsets of  $[0,1] \times Y$  are mapped to the compact subsets of Y by a continuous function  $\sigma : [0,1] \times Y \to Y$ . Also suppose Lipschitz condition is satisfied

$$|\sigma(t,x)-\sigma(t,y)| \le k|x-y|, \ \forall \ t \in [0,1], \ x,y \in Y.$$

Then on interval [0, 1], at least one solution exists for problem (3.1).

*Proof.* Suppose  $U_r = \{x \in C : ||x|| \le r\}$  where

$$r \ge \frac{2|\lambda|/\Gamma(\kappa+1) + 2R/\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)}{1 - 2k/\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)}.$$

And set  $\max_{w \in [0,1]} |\sigma(w,0)| = R$ . Define operators on  $U_r$  as follows

$$(\Omega x)(t) = -\lambda \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} x(z) dz + \lambda t^{\kappa-1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} x(z) dz,$$

$$(\Theta x)(t) = \int_0^t \frac{-(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \sigma(w, x(w)) dw dz$$

$$+ \int_0^1 \frac{t^{\kappa-1} (1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \sigma(w, x(w)) dw dz.$$

Let  $x, y \in U_r$ , then

$$|(\Omega x)(t) + (\Theta y)(t)|$$

$$\leq |\lambda| \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + |\lambda| t^{\kappa-1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz$$

$$\leq |\lambda| \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + |\lambda| t^{\kappa-1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)|^{\kappa-1} |x$$

$$\leq |\lambda| \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + |\lambda| t^{\kappa-1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \times \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (k|y(w)| + |\sigma(w,0)|) dw dz + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{t^{\kappa-1} (1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \times (k|y(w)| + |\sigma(w,0)|) dw dz$$

$$\leq |\lambda| \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} ||x|| dz + |\lambda| t^{\kappa-1} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} ||x|| dz + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \times \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} (k||y|| + R) dw dz + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{t^{\kappa-1} (1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_{0}^{z} \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} \times (k||y|| + R) dw dz$$

$$\leq |\lambda|r\int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)}dz + |\lambda|rt^{\kappa-1}\int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)}dz + (kr+R)\int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} dx \\ \times \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)}dwdz + (kr+R)\int_0^1 \frac{t^{\kappa-1}(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)}\int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)}dwdz.$$

After simplification

$$\|\Omega x + \Theta y\| \le \frac{2|\lambda|r}{\Gamma(\kappa+1)} + \frac{2(kr+R)}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)} \le r.$$

Hence  $\Omega x + \Theta y \in U_r$ . Now we will prove that  $\Omega$  is bounded and compact.

$$\begin{split} |(\Omega x)(t)| & \leq & |\lambda| \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + |\lambda| t^{\kappa-1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz \\ & \leq & |\lambda| \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \|x\| dz + |\lambda| t^{\kappa-1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \|x\| dz \\ & \leq & |\lambda| r \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} dz + |\lambda| r t^{\kappa-1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} dz. \end{split}$$

Simplification gives the following result

$$\|\Omega x\| \le \frac{2|\lambda|r}{\Gamma(\kappa+1)}.$$

Now for  $t_a$ ,  $t_b \in [0, 1]$  $|(\Omega x)(t_a) - (\Omega x)(t_b)|$ 

$$\leq |\lambda| \int_0^{t_a} \frac{(t_a - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + |\lambda| t_a^{\kappa - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1 - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz$$

$$+ |\lambda| \int_0^{t_b} \frac{(t_b - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + |\lambda| t_b^{\kappa - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1 - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz$$

$$\leq |\lambda| \int_0^{t_a} \frac{(t_a - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + |\lambda| t_a^{\kappa - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1 - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz$$

$$+ |\lambda| \int_0^{t_b} \frac{(t_b - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz + |\lambda| t_b^{\kappa - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1 - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} |x(z)| dz$$

$$\leq |\lambda| r \int_0^{t_a} \frac{(t_a - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} dz + |\lambda| r t_a^{\kappa - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1 - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} dz$$

$$+ |\lambda| r \int_0^{t_b} \frac{(t_b - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} dz + |\lambda| r t_b^{\kappa - 1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1 - z)^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} dz$$

$$\leq \frac{|\lambda| r t_a^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{|\lambda| r t_a^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{|\lambda| r t_b^{\kappa - 1}}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)}.$$

The continuity of  $t_a^{\kappa}$ ,  $t_a^{\kappa-1}$ ,  $t_b^{\kappa}$  and  $t_b^{\kappa-1}$  implies the continuity of  $\Omega$ . For all t,  $\Omega(\mathbb{P}(t))$  is relatively compact in Y as g maps bounded subsets to the relatively compact subsets where  $\mathbb{P}$ , the subset of C, is bounded. Thus  $\Omega$  is relatively compact on  $U_r$ . So,

employing Theorem 1.3.1  $\Omega$  is compact on  $U_r$ .

 $\Theta$  is contraction mapping under the assumption that

$$\frac{2k}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)} < 1.$$

$$\begin{split} &|(\Theta x)(t)-(\Theta y)(t)|\\ &\leq \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} |\sigma(w,x(w))-\sigma(w,y(w))| dw dz\\ &+t^{\kappa-1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} |\sigma(w,x(w))-\sigma(w,y(w))| dw dz\\ &\leq \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} k|x(w)-y(w)| dw dz\\ &+t^{\kappa-1} \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} k|x(w)-y(w)| dw dz\\ &\leq k\|x-y\| \int_0^t \frac{(t-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} dw dz\\ &+t^{\kappa-1} k\|x-y\| \int_0^1 \frac{(1-z)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^z \frac{(z-w)^{\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\zeta)} dw dz. \end{split}$$

Integrating and using Lemma 1.2.2

$$\|\Theta x - \Theta y\| \le \frac{2k}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} \|x - y\|.$$

Thus using Theorem 1.3.3, at least one solution exists for problem (3.1) on [0,1].

**Theorem 3.3.3.** Let  $1 < \alpha < 2$ ,  $0 < \beta < 1$  and  $\sigma : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be continuous function. Suppose there are two distinct positive constants  $r_1$  and  $r_2$  satisfying

$$(H_1)$$
  $\sigma(t, x(t)) \leq \frac{\lambda \Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} r_1$  for  $(t, x) \in [0, 1] \times [0, r_1]$ ,

$$(H_2)$$
  $\sigma(t, x(t)) \ge \frac{\lambda \gamma \Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)}{\omega \Gamma(\kappa)} p$  for  $(t, x) \in [1/2, 2/3] \times [0, r_2]$ .

Then with  $\min\{r_1, r_2\} \leq ||x|| \leq \max\{r_1, r_2\}$ , at least one positive solution exists for problem (3.1).

*Proof.* Define  $U_r = \{x \in C : ||x|| \le \rho\}, \ \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa+1)} r \le \frac{\rho}{2}$ . Then for any  $t \in [0,1]$ ,

$$|Ix(t)| = \left| \int_0^1 G(t, w) x(w) dw + \int_0^1 H(t, w) \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^1 (1 - w)^{\kappa - 1} |x(w)| dw + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} \int_0^1 (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} |\sigma(w, x(w))| dw$$

$$\leq \frac{2\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} r \leq \rho.$$

Now we are going to show that I is mapping from bounded sets to equicontinuous sets. For  $x \in U_r$ ,  $t_a, t_b \in [0, 1]$  where  $t_a < t_b$ , then

$$|Ix(t_b) - Ix(t_a)|$$

$$\leq \left| \int_{0}^{1} [G(t_{b}, w) - G(t_{a}, w)] x(w) dw \right| + \left| \int_{0}^{1} [H(t_{b}, w) - H(t_{a}, w)] \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \int_{0}^{t_{a}} [G(t_{b}, w) - G(t_{a}, w)] x(w) dw \right| + \left| \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} [G(t_{b}, w) - G(t_{a}, w)] x(w) dw \right|$$

$$+ \left| \int_{t_{b}}^{1} [G(t_{b}, w) - G(t_{a}, w)] x(w) dw \right| + \left| \int_{0}^{t_{a}} [H(t_{b}, w) - H(t_{a}, w)] \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right|$$

$$+ \left| \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} [H(t_{b}, w) - H(t_{a}, w)] \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right| + \left| \int_{t_{b}}^{1} [H(t_{b}, w) - H(t_{a}, w)] \right|$$

$$\times \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(t_{b}^{\kappa-1} - t_{a}^{\kappa-1}) \lambda(1 - w)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} x(w) dw \right| + \left| \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(t_{b}^{\kappa+\zeta-1} - t_{a}^{\kappa+\zeta-1}) \lambda(1 - w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} \right|$$

$$\times \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right| + \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \left| \int_{0}^{t_{a}} [(t_{b} - w)^{\kappa-1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa-1}] x(w) dw \right|$$

$$+ \left| \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} [t_{b} - w)^{\kappa-1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa-1}] x(w) dw \right| + \left| \int_{t_{b}}^{1} [(t_{b} - w)^{\kappa-1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa-1}] \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right|$$

$$+ \left| \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} [(t_{b} - w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}] \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right|$$

$$+ \left| \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} [(t_{b} - w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}] \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right|$$

$$+ \left| \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} [(t_{b} - w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1}] \sigma(w, x(w)) dw \right|$$

$$= \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa+1)} r_1 \left[ (t_b^{\kappa-1} - t_a^{\kappa-1}) + (t_b^{\kappa+\zeta-1} - t_a^{\kappa+\zeta-1}) - (t_b - t_a)^{\kappa} + t_b^{\kappa} - t_a^{\kappa} + (t_b - t_a)^{\kappa} + (t_a - t_b)^{\kappa} - (t_b - 1)^{\kappa} + (t_a - 1)^{\kappa} - (t_a - t_b)^{\kappa} - (t_b - t_a)^{\kappa+\zeta} + t_b^{\kappa+\zeta} - t_a^{\kappa+\zeta} + (t_b - t_a)^{\kappa+\zeta} + (t_a - t_b)^{\kappa+\zeta} - (t_b - 1)^{\kappa+\zeta} + (t_a - 1)^{\kappa+\zeta} - (t_a - t_b)^{\kappa+\zeta} \right] \to 0 \text{ as } t_a \to t_b.$$

Then using Theorem 1.3.1,  $I: U_r \to U_r$  is completely continuous.

Now let  $\Omega_1 = \{x \in U_r : ||x|| < \rho_1\}$ , where  $\frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa+1)} r_1 < \frac{\rho_1}{2}$ . For  $x \in \partial \Omega_1$ , we have,  $||x|| = \rho_1$ . So, for  $x \in U_r \cap \partial \Omega_1$ , we get

$$||Ix|| \le \frac{\lambda}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^1 (1-w)^{\kappa-1} |x(w)| dw + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} \int_0^1 (1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-1} |\sigma(w, x(w))| dw \le \rho_1 = ||x||.$$

Now put  $\Omega_2 = \{x \in U_r : ||x|| < \rho_2\}$ . For  $x \in \partial\Omega_2$ ,  $||x|| = \rho_2$ . So, for  $x \in U_r \cap \partial\Omega_2$ , and  $\rho_2\Lambda \leq \frac{\lambda\gamma p}{\Gamma(\kappa)}$ , where  $\Lambda = \left[\frac{(2^{-\kappa} - 3^{-\kappa})}{\kappa} + \frac{(3^{(\kappa+\zeta)} - 2^{(\kappa+\zeta)})}{(\kappa+\zeta)6^{(\kappa+\zeta)}}\right]^{-1}$ . Then we get

$$Ix(t) = \int_{0}^{1} G(t, w)x(w)dw + \int_{0}^{1} H(t, w)\sigma(w, x(w))dw$$

$$\geq \int_{1/2}^{2/3} G(t, w)x(w)dw + \int_{1/2}^{2/3} H(t, w)\sigma(w, x(w))dw$$

$$\geq \frac{\lambda \gamma p}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \left[ \int_{1/2}^{2/3} (1 - w)^{\kappa - 1} dw + \int_{1/2}^{2/3} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 1} dw \right]$$

$$\geq \rho_{2} = ||x||,$$

where  $p = \min_{t \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{2}{3}]} \{x(t)\}.$ 

So, we have  $||Ix|| \ge ||x||$ , for  $x \in U_r \cap \partial \Omega_2$ . Thus using Lemma 1.3.5, at least one fixed point of I exists in  $U_r \cap (\overline{\Omega}_2/\Omega_1)$ .

Suppose a Banach space Y = C(H), H = [0,1] of real valued continuous functions with maximum norm. Consider  $W = \{\widetilde{x} \in Y : \widetilde{x}(t) \geq 0, t \in [0,1]\}$  in Y. If  $\widetilde{x}(t) \geq 0$ ,  $0 < t \leq 1$  and  $\widetilde{x}(0) = 0$  then  $\widetilde{x} \in Y$  is positive solution.

Assume  $c, d \in \mathbb{R}^+$  with d > c. Let us define upper and lower control functions as  $U(t, \widetilde{x}) = \sup\{\sigma(t, \psi) : c \leq \psi \leq \widetilde{x}\}$  and  $L(t, \widetilde{x}) = \inf\{\sigma(t, \psi) : \widetilde{x} \leq \psi \leq d\}$ , for every

 $\widetilde{x}(t) \in [c,d]$  respectively. Clearly, on  $\widetilde{x}$ ,  $U(t,\widetilde{x})$  and  $L(t,\widetilde{x})$  are both non-decreasing and monotonous and also  $L(t,\widetilde{x}) \leq \sigma(t,\widetilde{x}) \leq U(t,\widetilde{x})$ .

We suppose  $\sigma: H \times Y \to Y$  be continuous function. Define operator  $\phi: W \to W$  by

$$(\phi \widetilde{x})(t) = \int_0^1 \widetilde{G}(t, w) \widetilde{x}(w) dw + \int_0^1 \widetilde{H}(t, w) \widetilde{\sigma}(w, \widetilde{x}(w)) dw$$

 $(H_1)$  :  $\widetilde{x}_1(t)$ ,  $\widetilde{x}_2(t) \in W$ , in such a way  $c \leq \widetilde{x}_2(t) \leq \widetilde{x}_1(t) \leq d$  and

$$D^{\zeta}(D^{\kappa} - \widetilde{\lambda})\widetilde{x}_1(t) \geq U(t, \widetilde{x}_1(t)),$$
  
$$D^{\zeta}(D^{\kappa} - \widetilde{\lambda})\widetilde{x}_2(t) \leq L(t, \widetilde{x}_2(t)), \text{ for any } t \in H.$$

 $(H_2)$ : A positive real number r < 1 exists such a way that

$$|\sigma(t,\widetilde{x}) - \sigma(t,\widetilde{y})| \le r|\widetilde{x} - \widetilde{y}|, \ t \in H, \ \widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y} \in Y.$$

Then  $\widetilde{x}_1(t)$  and  $\widetilde{x}_2(t)$  are upper and lower solutions for problem (3.2) respectively.

**Theorem 3.3.4.** Assume that  $(H_1)$  is satisfied and  $\widetilde{x}_2(t) \leq \widetilde{x}(t) \leq \widetilde{x}_1(t)$ ,  $t \in H$ , then for problem (3.2) at least one positive solution  $\widetilde{x} \in Y$  exists.

Proof. Consider  $C = \{\widetilde{x} \in W : \widetilde{x}_2(t) \leq \widetilde{x}(t) \leq \widetilde{x}_1(t), t \in H\}$  with  $\|\widetilde{x}\| = \max_{t \in H} |\widetilde{x}(t)|$ , then  $\|\widetilde{x}\| \leq d$ , thus C is closed, bounded and convex subset of Y. Furthermore, the continuity of operator  $\phi$  on C is obvious from continuity of  $\sigma$ . If  $\widetilde{x} \in Y$  then a positive constant e exists such that  $\max\{\sigma(t,\widetilde{x}(t)) : t \in H, \ \widetilde{x}(t) \leq d\} < e$ . Then

$$\begin{split} |(\phi \widetilde{x})(t)| & \leq \int_0^1 |\widetilde{G}(t,w)| |\widetilde{x}(w)| dw + \int_0^1 |\widetilde{H}(t,w)| |\widetilde{\sigma}(w,\widetilde{x}(w))| dw \\ & \leq \frac{d(1+\kappa)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \int_0^1 (1-w)^{\kappa-2} dw + \frac{(1+\kappa+\zeta)e}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} \int_0^1 (1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2} dw \\ & = \frac{d(1+\kappa)}{\Gamma(\kappa)(\kappa-1)} + \frac{(1+\kappa+\zeta)e}{(\kappa+\zeta-1)\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)}. \end{split}$$

Thus  $\phi(C)$  is uniformly bounded. For equicontinuity of  $\phi$ , suppose  $\widetilde{x} \in C$ ,  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $\delta > 0$  and  $0 \le t_a < t_b \le 1$ , such that  $|t_b - t_a| < \delta$ . If

$$\delta = \min \bigg\{ 1, \frac{\epsilon \Gamma(\kappa) \Gamma(\kappa+1)}{d[\Gamma(\kappa)(1+f'(\eta_1)) + \Gamma(\kappa+1)]}, \frac{\epsilon \Gamma(\kappa+\zeta) \Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)}{e[\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)(1+f'(\eta_2)) + \Gamma(\kappa+\zeta+1)]} \bigg\}.$$

Then

$$|(\phi \widetilde{x})(t_a) - (\phi \widetilde{x})(t_b)| \leq d \int_0^1 |\widetilde{G}(t_a, w) - \widetilde{G}(t_b, w)| dw + e \int_0^1 |\widetilde{H}(t_a, w) - \widetilde{H}(t_b, w)| dw.$$

Now consider

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{G}(t_{a},w) - \widetilde{G}(t_{b},w) &= \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-1}(t_{b}-t_{a}) + (t_{a}-w)^{\kappa-1} - (t_{b}-w)^{\kappa-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \\ &+ \frac{(1-w)^{\kappa-2}(t_{b}-t_{a})}{\Gamma(\kappa-1)}, \\ \int_{0}^{1} |\widetilde{G}(t_{a},w) - \widetilde{G}(t_{b},w)| dw. &= \frac{t_{b}-t_{a}}{\kappa\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{t_{b}^{\kappa}-t_{a}^{\kappa}}{\kappa\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{t_{b}-t_{a}}{(\kappa-1)\Gamma(\kappa-1)} \\ &= \frac{t_{b}-t_{a}}{\Gamma(\kappa+1)} + \frac{t_{b}-t_{a}}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{t_{b}^{\kappa}-t_{a}^{\kappa}}{\Gamma(\kappa+1)}. \end{split}$$

Let  $\eta_1 \in (t_a, t_b)$ 

$$\int_0^1 |\widetilde{G}(t_a, w) - \widetilde{G}(t_b, w)| dw = \frac{t_b - t_a}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{t_b - t_a}{\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{f'(\eta_1)(t_b - t_a)}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)}$$
$$= (t_b - t_a) \left[ \frac{1 + f'(\eta_1)}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \right].$$

Similarly

$$\int_0^1 |\widetilde{H}(t_a, w) - \widetilde{H}(t_b, w)| dw = (t_b - t_a) \left[ \frac{1 + f'(\eta_2)}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} \right].$$

So, we have

$$|(\phi \widetilde{x})(t_{a}) - (\phi \widetilde{x})(t_{b})| \leq |t_{b} - t_{a}| \left[ d \left( \frac{1 + f'(\eta_{1})}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \right) + e \left( \frac{1 + f'(\eta_{2})}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} \right) + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} \right]$$

$$\leq \delta \left[ d \left( \frac{1 + f'(\eta_{1})}{\Gamma(\kappa + 1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa)} \right) + e \left( \frac{1 + f'(\eta_{2})}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta + 1)} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} \right) \right]$$

$$< \epsilon.$$

Thus  $\phi(C)$  is equicontinuous. Using Theorem 1.3.1,  $\phi:W\to W$  is compact. The application of Theorem 1.3.2 requires to show  $\phi(C)\subseteq C$ . Suppose  $\widetilde{x}\in C$ , then

hypothesis implies:

$$\begin{split} (\sigma\widetilde{x})(t) &= \int_0^1 \widetilde{G}(t,w)\widetilde{x}(w)dw + \int_0^1 \widetilde{H}(t,w)\widetilde{\sigma}(w,\widetilde{x}(w))dw \\ &\leq \int_0^1 \widetilde{G}(t,w)\widetilde{x}(w)dw + \int_0^1 \widetilde{H}(t,w)U(w,\widetilde{x}(w))dw \\ &\leq \int_0^1 \widetilde{G}(t,w)\widetilde{x}_1(w)dw + \int_0^1 \widetilde{H}(t,w)U(w,\widetilde{x}_1(w))dw \leq \widetilde{x}_1(t), \end{split}$$

and

$$(\sigma \widetilde{x})(t) > \int_{0}^{1} \widetilde{G}(t, w) \widetilde{x}_{2}(w) dw + \int_{0}^{1} \widetilde{H}(t, w) \widetilde{\sigma}(w, \widetilde{x}_{2}(w)) dw$$
  
 
$$\geq \widetilde{x}_{2}(t).$$

Thus for  $t \in H$ ,  $\widetilde{x}_2(t) \leq (\phi \widetilde{x})(t) \leq \widetilde{x}_1(t)$ , that is  $\phi(C) \subseteq C$ . At least one fixed point  $\widetilde{x} \in C$  of  $\phi$  exists by using Theorem 1.3.2. Thus for problem (3.2) at least one positive solution  $\widetilde{x} \in Y$  exists and  $\widetilde{x}_2(t) \leq \widetilde{x}(t) \leq \widetilde{x}_1(t)$  for  $t \in H$ .

**Theorem 3.3.5.** Suppose  $(H_1)$  and  $(H_2)$  are satisfied. If

$$\widehat{s} = \left[ \frac{1+\kappa}{(\kappa-1)\Gamma(\kappa)} + \frac{(1+\kappa+\zeta)r}{(\kappa+\zeta-1)\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} \right] < 1.$$

Then problem (3.2) has unique positive solution  $\widetilde{x} \in Y$ .

*Proof.* It is followed by Theorem 3.3.4 that at least one positive solution for problem (3.2) exists in C. So, we are required to show that  $\phi$  described in Theorem 3.3.4 is contraction on Y. For  $\widetilde{x}, \widetilde{y} \in Y$ ,

$$\begin{split} |(\phi \widetilde{x})(t) - (\phi \widetilde{y})(t)| & \leq \int_0^1 \widetilde{G}(t,w) |\widetilde{x}(w) - \widetilde{y}(w)| dw + \int_0^1 \widetilde{H}(t,w) |\widetilde{\sigma}(w,\widetilde{x}(w))| \\ & - \widetilde{\sigma}(w,\widetilde{y}(w)) |dw \\ & \leq \int_0^1 \widetilde{G}(t,w) |\widetilde{x}(w) - \widetilde{y}(w)| dw + \int_0^1 r \widetilde{H}(t,w) |\widetilde{x}(w) - \widetilde{y}(w)| dw \\ & = \int_0^1 [\widetilde{G}(t,w) - r \widetilde{H}(t,w)] |\widetilde{x}(w) + \widetilde{y}(w)| dw. \end{split}$$

Since

$$\widetilde{G}(t,w) \le \frac{(\kappa+1)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (1-w)^{\kappa-2},$$

and

$$\widetilde{H}(t,w) \le \frac{(\kappa + \zeta + 1)}{\Gamma(\kappa + \zeta)} (1 - w)^{\kappa + \zeta - 2}.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{split} |(\phi \widetilde{x})(t) - (\phi \widetilde{y})(t)| & \leq \int_0^1 \left[ \frac{(\kappa+1)}{\Gamma(\kappa)} (1-w)^{\kappa-2} + \frac{(\kappa+\zeta+1)r}{\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} (1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2} \right] \\ & \times |\widetilde{x}(w) + \widetilde{y}(w)| dw \\ & \leq \left[ \frac{(\kappa+1)}{(\kappa-1)\Gamma(\kappa)} (1-w)^{\kappa-2} + \frac{(\kappa+\zeta+1)r}{(\kappa+\zeta-1)\Gamma(\kappa+\zeta)} (1-w)^{\kappa+\zeta-2} \right] \\ & \times ||\widetilde{x} - \widetilde{y}|| \\ |(\phi \widetilde{x})(t) - (\phi \widetilde{y})(t)| & \leq |\widehat{s}||\widetilde{x} - \widetilde{y}||. \end{split}$$

Since  $\hat{s} < 1$ , Hence  $\phi$  is a contraction mapping. Therefore, unique positive solution  $\tilde{x} \in Y$  exists for problem (3.2).

#### Example 3.3.1. Consider

$$D^{\zeta}(D^{\kappa} + 1)x(t) = \sqrt{t} + \frac{|\cos x|}{1 + t^3},$$
  

$$D^{\kappa}x(0) = 0, \ x(0) = x(1) = 0,$$
(3.16)

where  $\kappa = 3/2, \ \zeta = 1/2, \ \lambda = 1$  and

$$\sigma(t,x) = \sqrt{t} + \frac{|\cos x|}{1+t^3}.$$

For  $(t, x) \in [0, 1] \times [0, +\infty)$ ,

$$1.512p \le \sqrt{t} \le \sqrt{t} + \frac{|\cos x|}{1+t^3} \le \sqrt{t} + \frac{1}{1+t^3} \le 2.25r_1.$$

We choose  $r_1 = 1$ ,  $r_2 = 0.50$ , p = 0.45 and  $\omega = 0.914$ ,  $\gamma = 1.225$  such that  $(H_1)$  and  $(H_2)$  of Theorem 3.3.3 are fulfilled. Therefore at least one positive solution for problem (3.16) exists.

## Chapter 4

# Existence of Solution for Coupled System of Langevin Equation

The development of different mathematics disciplines through fractional calculus has provided many employments of fractional differential equations. The coupled system of fractional differential equations became popular due to their application in science and technology. Many researchers, by using fixed point theorems, has studied existence of solution for coupled systems of equations.

Fang and Bai in [40], studied existence of positive solution for following singular coupled system of equations,

$$D^{\psi_1}x_1 = h_1(s, x_2), \ D^{\psi_2}x_2 = h_2(s, x_1), \ 0 < s < 1,$$

where  $0 < \psi_1, \psi_2 < 1, \ h_1, h_2 : [0, 1) \times [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$  are continuous functions and D is Riemann-Liouville derivative.

In [42], coupled system of multiterm differential equations was considered for establishing existence and uniqueness of solution,

$$D^{\gamma}x(\widetilde{t}) = g_1(\widetilde{t}, y(\widetilde{t}), D^{s_1}y(\widetilde{t}), ..., D^{s_n}y(\widetilde{t})), \ D^{\gamma-\widetilde{u}}x(0) = 0, \ \widetilde{u} = 1, ..., n_1,$$

$$D^{\phi}y(\widetilde{t}) = g_2(\widetilde{t}, x(\widetilde{t}), D^{r_1}x(\widetilde{t}), ..., D^{r_n}x(\widetilde{t})), \ D^{\phi-\widetilde{v}}y(0) = 0, \ \widetilde{v} = 1, ..., n_2.$$

where  $n_1 = [\gamma] + 1$ ,  $n_2 = [\phi] + 1$  if  $\gamma, \phi \notin \mathbb{N}$  otherwise  $n_1 = [\gamma]$ ,  $n_2 = [\phi]$  if  $\gamma, \phi \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\gamma > s_1 > \ldots > s_n$ ,  $\phi > r_1 > \ldots > r_n$ . Also  $g_1, g_2 : [0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}$  are continuous and D is Riemann-Liouville derivative.

Authors considered coupled system of Langevin equations in [41], to investigate existence and uniqueness of solution.

In [43], existence result was developed for problem given below,

$$D^{\phi_1} x_1(w) = u_1(s, x_2(w), D^{\zeta_1} x_2(w)),$$
  

$$D^{\phi_2} x_2(w) = u_2(s, x_1(w), D^{\zeta_2} x_1(w)),$$
  

$$x_1(0) = x_1(1) = x_2(0) = x_2(1) = 0,$$

where  $0 < s < 1, \phi_1 - \zeta_1, \ \phi_2 - \zeta_1 \ge 1, \ \zeta_1, \zeta_2 > 0, \ 1 < \phi_1, \phi_2 < 2, D$  is Riemann-Liouville derivative and  $x_1, x_2 : [0, 1] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  are any given functions.

There is limited work available for existence of solution for coupled system of fractional Langevin equations. So, inspired by the work on coupled system of differential equations, we considered coupled system stated below,

$$D^{\zeta_1}(D^{\kappa_1} + \lambda_1)x(t) = \sigma_1(t, x(t), y(t)), \ 0 < t < 1,$$

$$D^{\zeta_2}(D^{\kappa_2} + \lambda_2)y(t) = \sigma_2(t, x(t), y(t)), \ 0 < t < 1,$$

$$D^{\kappa_1}x(0) = 0, \ x(0) = x(1) = 0,$$

$$D^{\kappa_2}y(0) = 0, \ y(0) = y(1) = 0,$$

$$(4.1)$$

where  $D^{\zeta_1}$ ,  $D^{\zeta_2}$ ,  $D^{\kappa_1}$ ,  $D^{\kappa_2}$  are Riemman-Liouville derivatives.  $0 < \zeta_1$ ,  $\zeta_2 < 1$ ,  $1 < \kappa_1$ ,  $\kappa_2 < 2$  and  $\lambda_1$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ . The nonlinear functions  $\sigma_1$ ,  $\sigma_2 : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  are assumed to be continuous.

### 4.1 Existence of Solution

The objective of this section is to establish existence of solution for problem (4.1). Consider C[0,1] be space of real continuous functions.

**Lemma 4.1.1.** Suppose  $\widetilde{S}=\{x(t)\mid x(t)\in C[0,1]\}$  be a Banach space with norm  $\|x\|_{\widetilde{S}}=\max_{t\in[0,1]}|x(t)|$ . Also consider Banach space  $\widetilde{Q}=\{y(t)\mid y(t)\in C[0,1]\}$  with norm  $\|y\|_{\widetilde{Q}}=\max_{t\in[0,1]}|y(t)|$ . For  $(x,y)\in\widetilde{S}\times\widetilde{Q}$ , suppose

$$||(x,y)||_{\tilde{S}\times\tilde{O}} = \max\{||x||_{\tilde{S}}, ||y||_{\tilde{O}}\}.$$

Then  $(\widetilde{S}\times\widetilde{Q},\|.\|_{\widetilde{S}\times\widetilde{Q}})$  is a Banach space.

Consider coupled system of integral equations

$$x(t) = \int_0^1 G_1(t, w)x(w)dw + \int_0^1 H_1(t, w)\sigma_1(w, x(w, y(w)))dw,$$
  

$$y(t) = \int_0^1 G_2(t, w)y(w)dw + \int_0^1 H_2(t, w)\sigma_2(w, x(w), y(w))dw,$$
(4.2)

where

$$G_1(t,w) = \frac{\lambda_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1)} \begin{cases} t^{\kappa_1 - 1} (1-w)^{\kappa_1 - 1} - (t-w)^{\kappa_1 - 1}, & w \le t; \\ t^{\kappa_1 - 1} (1-w)^{\kappa_1 - 1}, & t \le w, \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

$$H_1(t,w) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1)} \begin{cases} t^{\kappa_1 - 1} (1 - w)^{\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 - 1} - (t - w)^{\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 - 1}, & w \le t; \\ t^{\kappa_1 - 1} (1 - w)^{\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 - 1}, & t \le w. \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

$$G_2(t,w) = \frac{\lambda_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_2)} \begin{cases} t^{\kappa_2 - 1} (1-w)^{\kappa_2 - 1} - (t-w)^{\kappa_2 - 1}, & w \le t; \\ t^{\kappa_2 - 1} (1-w)^{\kappa_2 - 1}, & t \le w, \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

and

$$H_2(t,w) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2)} \begin{cases} t^{\kappa_2 - 1} (1 - w)^{\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 - 1} - (t - w)^{\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 - 1}, & w \le t; \\ t^{\kappa_2 - 1} (1 - w)^{\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 - 1}, & t \le w. \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

**Lemma 4.1.2.** Assume continuous functions  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ . Then  $(x,y) \in \widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}$  is solution for (4.1) if and only if  $(x,y) \in \widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}$  is solution for (4.2).

*Proof.* Assume  $(x,y) \in \widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}$  be solution of (4.1). Then from Lemma 3.1.1, we obtain that  $(x,y) \in \widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}$  is solution of (4.2). Now assume  $(x,y) \in \widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}$  be the solution of (4.2). Using equations (4.3)-(4.4) in system (4.2) and simplifying we came to conclusion that  $(x,y) \in \widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}$  is a solution of (4.1).

Consider the operator  $K:\widetilde{S}\times\widetilde{Q}\to\widetilde{S}\times\widetilde{Q}$  given as:

$$K(x,y)(t) = \left( \int_0^1 G_1(t,w)x(w)dw + \int_0^1 H_1(t,w)\sigma_1(w,x(w),y(w))dw, \right.$$
$$\left. \int_0^1 G_2(t,w)x(w)dw + \int_0^1 H_2(t,w)\sigma_2(w,x(w),y(w))dw \right)$$
$$= (K_1(x,y)(t), K_2(x,y)(t)).$$

**Theorem 4.1.1.** Assume one of following are satisfied

- (H<sub>1</sub>) Two non-negative functions p(t),  $q(t) \in L[0,1]$  exists such that  $|\sigma_1(t,x,y)| \le p(t) + a_1|x|^{\mu_1} + a_2|y|^{\mu_2}$  and  $|\sigma_2(t,x,y)| \le q(t) + b_1|x|^{\nu_1} + b_2|y|^{\nu_2}$ ,  $3\lambda_1 < \Gamma(\kappa_1 + 1)$ ,  $3\lambda_2 < \Gamma(\kappa_2 + 1)$ ,  $a_i, b_i \ge 0$  and  $\mu_i, \nu_i > 1$ , i = 1, 2.
- $(H_2) |\sigma_1(t,x,y)| \le a_1 |x|^{\mu_1} + a_2 |y|^{\mu_2} \text{ and } |\sigma_2(t,x,y)| \le b_1 |x|^{\nu_1} + b_2 |y|^{\nu_2}, 2\lambda_1 < \Gamma(\kappa_1 + 1), 2\lambda_2 < \Gamma(\kappa_2 + 1), a_i, b_i \ge 0 \text{ and } 0 < \mu_i, \nu_i < 1, i = 1, 2.$

Then solution exists for problem (4.1).

*Proof.* First suppose  $(H_1)$  is satisfied. We will make use of Theorem 1.3.2 to prove this result.

Define set

$$U_r = \{(x(t), y(t)) \mid (x(t), y(t)) \in \widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}, \ \|(x(t), y(t))\|_{\widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}} \le r, t \in [0, 1]\},$$

where

$$r \geq \max \left\{ \frac{C}{1/3 - \lambda_1/\Gamma(\kappa_1 + 1)}, \left( \frac{3a_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)} \right)^{\frac{1}{1-\mu_1}}, \left( \frac{3a_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)} \right)^{\frac{1}{1-\mu_2}}, \frac{D}{1/3 - \lambda_2/\Gamma(\kappa_2 + 1)}, \left( \frac{3b_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)} \right)^{\frac{1}{1-\nu_1}}, \left( \frac{3b_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)} \right)^{\frac{1}{1-\nu_2}} \right\},$$

and

$$C = \max_{t \in [0,1]} \int_0^1 |H_1(t, w)p(w)| dw,$$

$$D = \max_{t \in [0,1]} \int_0^1 |H_2(t, w)q(w)| dw.$$

First we will prove that  $K: U_r \to U_r$ .

$$|K_{1}(x,y)(t)| = \left| \int_{0}^{1} G_{1}(t,w)x(w)dw + \int_{0}^{1} H_{1}(t,w)\sigma_{1}(w,x(w),y(w))dw \right|$$

$$\leq r \int_{0}^{1} |G_{1}(t,w)|dw + \int_{0}^{1} |H_{1}(t,w)p(w)|dw + (a_{1}r^{\mu_{1}} + a_{2}r^{\mu_{2}})$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{1} |H_{1}(t,w)|dw$$

$$\leq r\lambda_{1} \left[ \int_{0}^{t} \frac{-(t-w)^{\kappa_{1}-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1})} dw + \int_{0}^{1} \frac{t^{\kappa_{1}-1}(1-w)^{\kappa_{1}-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1})} dw \right]$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{1} |H_{1}(t,w)p(w)|dw + (a_{1}r^{\mu_{1}} + a_{2}r^{\mu_{2}}) \left[ \int_{0}^{t} \frac{-(t-w)^{\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1})} dw \right]$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{1} \frac{t^{\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}-1}(1-w)^{\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1})} dw \right]$$

$$= r\lambda_{1} \left[ \frac{t^{\kappa_{1}-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+1)} + \frac{t^{\kappa_{1}}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+1)} \right] + \int_{0}^{1} |H_{1}(t,w)p(w)|dw + (a_{1}r^{\mu_{1}} + a_{2}r^{\mu_{2}})$$

$$\times \left[ \frac{t^{\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}+1)} + \frac{t^{\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}+1)} \right]$$

$$= \frac{r\lambda_{1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+1)} + \int_{0}^{1} |H_{1}(t,w)p(w)|dw + \frac{(a_{1}r^{\mu_{1}} + a_{2}r^{\mu_{2}})}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}+1)} .$$

Thus,

$$||K_{1}(x,y)||_{\widetilde{S}} \leq \frac{r\lambda_{1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+1)} + C + \frac{(a_{1}r^{\mu_{1}} + a_{2}r^{\mu_{2}})}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1}+\zeta_{1}+1)}$$
  
$$\leq \frac{r}{3} + \frac{r}{3} + \frac{r}{3} = r.$$

Now for  $K_2$ ,

$$\begin{split} |K_2(x,y)(t)| &= \left| \int_0^1 G_2(t,w)y(w)dw + \int_0^1 H_2(t,w)\sigma_2(w,x(w),y(w))dw \right| \\ &\leq r \int_0^1 |G_2(t,w)|dw + \int_0^1 |H_2(t,w)q(w)|dw + (b_1r^{\nu_1} + b_2r^{\nu_2}) \\ &\quad \times \int_0^1 |H_2(t,w)|dw \\ &\leq r \lambda_2 \left[ \int_0^t \frac{-(t-w)^{\kappa_2-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_2)} dw + \int_0^1 \frac{t^{\kappa_2-1}(1-w)^{\kappa_2-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_2)} dw \right] \\ &\quad + \int_0^1 |H_2(t,w)q(w)|dw + (b_1r^{\nu_1} + b_2r^{\nu_2}) \left[ \int_0^t \frac{-(t-w)^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+\zeta_2)} dw \right. \\ &\quad + \int_0^1 \frac{t^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2-1}(1-w)^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+\zeta_2)} dw \right] \\ &= r \lambda_2 \left[ \frac{t^{\kappa_2-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+1)} + \frac{t^{\kappa_2}}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+1)} \right] + \int_0^1 |H_2(t,w)q(w)|dw + (b_1r^{\nu_1} + b_2r^{\nu_2}) \\ &\quad \times \left[ \frac{t^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2-1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+\zeta_2+1)} + \frac{t^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2}}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+\zeta_2+1)} \right] \\ &= \frac{r \lambda_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+1)} + \int_0^1 |H_2(t,w)q(w)|dw + \frac{(b_1r^{\nu_1} + b_2r^{\nu_2})}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+\zeta_2+1)}. \end{split}$$

Thus

$$||K_{2}(x,y)||_{\widetilde{Q}} \leq \frac{r\lambda_{2}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{2}+1)} + D + \frac{(b_{1}r^{\nu_{1}} + b_{2}r^{\nu_{2}})}{\Gamma(\kappa_{2}+\zeta_{2}+1)}$$
  
$$\leq \frac{r}{3} + \frac{r}{3} + \frac{r}{3} = r.$$

Next assume that  $(H_2)$  is valid. Take

$$0 < r \le \min \left\{ \left( \frac{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)}{a_1} \left( \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\lambda_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + 1)} \right)^{\frac{1}{\mu_1 - 1}}, \left( \frac{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)}{2a_2} \right)^{\frac{1}{\mu_2 - 1}}, \left( \frac{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)}{b_1} \left( \frac{1}{2} - \frac{\lambda_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + 1)} \right)^{\frac{1}{\nu_1 - 1}}, \left( \frac{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)}{2b_2} \right)^{\frac{1}{\nu_2 - 1}} \right\}.$$

Then

$$|K_1(x,y)(t)| \leq \frac{r\lambda_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1+1)} + \frac{(a_1r^{\mu_1} + a_2r^{\mu_2})}{\Gamma(\kappa_1+\zeta_1+1)}$$
  
$$||K_1(x,y)||_{\widetilde{S}} \leq \frac{r}{2} + \frac{r}{2} = r.$$

For  $K_2$  we obtain

$$|K_2(x,y)(t)| \leq \frac{r\lambda_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+1)} + \frac{(b_1r^{\nu_1} + b_2r^{\nu_2})}{\Gamma(\kappa_2+\zeta_2+1)}$$
  
$$||K_2(x,y)||_{\widetilde{Q}} \leq \frac{r}{2} + \frac{r}{2} = r.$$

Thus as a result  $K: U_r \to U_r$ . Since  $G_1(t, w)$ ,  $G_2(t, w)$ ,  $H_1(t, w)$ ,  $H_2(t, w)$ ,  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  are continuous, Thus K is also continuous. We will prove that K is completely continuous.

Set  $\max_{t \in [0,1]} |\sigma_1(t,x(t),y(t))| = A$  and  $\max_{t \in [0,1]} |\sigma_2(t,x(t),y(t))| = B$ . For  $t_a,t_b \in [0,1]$  with  $t_a < t_b$  and  $(x,y) \in U_r$ ,

$$|K_1(x,y)(t_a) - K_1(x,y)(t_b)|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G_{1}(t_{a}, w) - G_{1}(t_{b}, w)||x(w)|dw + \int_{0}^{1} |H_{1}(t_{a}, w) - H_{1}(t_{b}, w)| \\ \times |\sigma_{1}(w, x(w), y(w))|dw$$

$$\leq r \int_{0}^{1} |G_{1}(t_{a}, w) - G_{1}(t_{b}, w)|dw + A \int_{0}^{1} |H_{1}(t_{a}, w) - H_{1}(t_{b}, w)|dw$$

$$\leq r \left[ \int_{0}^{t_{a}} |G_{1}(t_{a}, w) - G_{1}(t_{b}, w)| dw + \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} |G_{1}(t_{a}, w) - G_{1}(t_{b}, w)| dw \right. \\ + \int_{t_{b}}^{1} |G_{1}(t_{a}, w) - G_{1}(t_{b}, w)| dw \right] + A \left[ \int_{0}^{t_{a}} |H_{1}(t_{a}, w) - H_{1}(t_{b}, w)| dw \right. \\ + \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} |H_{1}(t_{a}, w) - H_{1}(t_{b}, w)| dw + \int_{t_{b}}^{1} |H_{1}(t_{a}, w) - H_{1}(t_{b}, w)| dw \right] \\ = \frac{r\lambda_{1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1})} \left[ \int_{0}^{t_{a}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} - 1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa_{1} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} - 1} + (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} - 1} \right) dw \right. \\ + \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} - 1} + (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} - 1} \right) dw \\ + \int_{t_{b}}^{t_{b}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} - 1} \right) dw \right. \\ + \left. \int_{t_{b}}^{t_{a}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right. \\ \\ \left. + (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right) dw + \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right. \\ \\ \left. + (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right) dw + \int_{t_{b}}^{t_{b}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right) dw \right. \\ \\ + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} - 1} dw + \int_{t_{b}}^{t_{b}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right) dw \\ + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} - 1} dw + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} dw - t_{b}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} dw \right. \\ \\ + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} - 1} dw + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} dw \right]. \\ \\ = \frac{r\lambda_{1}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1} + 1)} \left( t_{a}^{\kappa_{1} - 1} - t_{b}^{\kappa_{1} - 1} - t_{a}^{\kappa_{1}} + t_{b}^{\kappa_{1}} \right) + \frac{A}{\Gamma(\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} + 1)} \left( t_{a}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - t_{b}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - t_{b}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right) \\ \\ - \left( t_{a}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - t_{b}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right) \right] dw + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} \left( t_{a}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - t_{b}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right) dw \\ \\ + \left( t_{a}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - t_{b}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} \right) dw + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} \left( t_{a}^{\kappa_{1} + \zeta_{1} - 1} - t_{b}^{\kappa_{1}$$

For  $K_2$ , we get

$$|K_2(x,y)(t_a) - K_2(x,y)(t_b)|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G_{2}(t_{a}, w) - G_{2}(t_{b}, w)||x(w)|dw + \int_{0}^{1} |H_{2}(t_{a}, w) - H_{2}(t_{b}, w)| \\
\times |\sigma_{2}(w, x(w), y(w))|dw$$

$$\leq r \int_{0}^{1} |G_{2}(t_{a}, w) - G_{2}(t_{b}, w)|dw + B \int_{0}^{1} |H_{2}(t_{a}, w) - H_{2}(t_{b}, w)|dw$$

$$\leq r \left[ \int_{0}^{t_{a}} |G_{2}(t_{a}, w) - G_{2}(t_{b}, w)| dw + \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} |G_{2}(t_{a}, w) - G_{2}(t_{b}, w)| dw \right. \\ + \int_{t_{b}}^{1} |G_{2}(t_{a}, w) - G_{2}(t_{b}, w)| dw \left] + B \left[ \int_{0}^{t_{a}} |H_{2}(t_{a}, w) - H_{2}(t_{b}, w)| dw \right. \\ + \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} |H_{2}(t_{a}, w) - H_{2}(t_{b}, w)| dw + \int_{t_{b}}^{1} |H_{2}(t_{a}, w) - H_{2}(t_{b}, w)| dw \right] \\ = \frac{r\lambda_{2}}{\Gamma(\kappa_{2})} \left[ \int_{0}^{t_{a}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} - 1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa_{2} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} - 1} + (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{2} - 1} \right) dw \\ + \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} - 1} + (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{2} - 1} \right) dw \\ + \int_{t_{b}}^{1} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} - 1} \right) dw \right] \\ + \frac{B}{\Gamma(\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2})} \\ \times \left[ \int_{0}^{t_{a}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} - (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} \right. \\ + (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} \right) dw + \int_{t_{a}}^{t_{b}} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} \right. \\ + (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} \right) dw + \int_{t_{b}}^{1} \left( (t_{a}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} - (t_{b}(1 - w))^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} \right) dw \\ + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{2} - 1} dw \right] + \frac{B}{\Gamma(\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2})} \left[ \int_{0}^{1} (1 - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} (t_{b}(1 - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} - t_{b}^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} \right] dw \\ + \int_{0}^{t_{a}} (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa_{2} - 1} dw + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} dw \right] \\ + \int_{0}^{t_{a}} (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} dw + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} dw \right] \\ + \int_{0}^{t_{a}} (t_{a} - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} dw + \int_{0}^{t_{b}} (t_{b} - w)^{\kappa_{2} + \zeta_{2} - 1} dw \right] .$$

Since  $t_a^{\kappa_1}$ ,  $t_b^{\kappa_1}$ ,  $t_a^{\kappa_1-1}$ ,  $t_b^{\kappa_1-1}$ ,  $t_a^{\kappa_2}$ ,  $t_b^{\kappa_2}$ ,  $t_a^{\kappa_2-1}$ ,  $t_b^{\kappa_2-1}$ ,  $t_a^{\kappa_1+\zeta_1}$ ,  $t_b^{\kappa_1+\zeta_1}$ ,  $t_a^{\kappa_1+\zeta_1-1}$ ,  $t_b^{\kappa_1+\zeta_1-1}$ ,  $t_a^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2}$ ,  $t_b^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2}$ ,  $t_a^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2-1}$  and  $t_b^{\kappa_2+\zeta_2-1}$  all are uniformly continuous on [0,1]. Therefor  $KU_r$  is equicontinuous and hence K is completely continuous. Thus there exist solution for problem (4.1) by Theorem 1.3.2.

### 4.2 Existence of Unique Solution

Existence of unique solution for problem (4.1) is checked in this section.

**Theorem 4.2.1.** Suppose  $\sigma_1$ ,  $\sigma_2 : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be continuous functions and satisfies Lipschitz condition

$$|\sigma_1(t, x_1, y_1) - \sigma_1(t, x_2, y_2)| \leq \tau_1 |x_1 - x_2| + \tau_2 |y_1 - y_2|,$$
  
$$|\sigma_2(t, x_1, y_1) - \sigma_2(t, x_2, y_2)| \leq \xi_1 |x_1 - x_2| + \xi_2 |y_1 - y_2|,$$

where  $x_i, y_i \in \mathbb{R}$  for i = 1, 2. If  $k = \max\{k_1, k_2\} < 1$  and  $p = \max\{p_1, p_2\} < 1$  where

$$k_1 = \frac{\lambda_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + 1)} + \frac{\tau_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)}, \ k_2 = \frac{\tau_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)},$$

and

$$p_1 = \frac{\lambda_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + 1)} + \frac{\xi_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)}, \ p_2 = \frac{\xi_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)}.$$

Then problem (4.1) has unique solution.

*Proof.* Since  $||K_1(x,y)||_{\widetilde{S}} \le r$  and  $||K_2(x,y)||_{\widetilde{Q}} \le r$ , proved in Theorem 4.1.1. Therefore, we will only prove that K is a contraction mapping. Suppose  $(x_1, x_2), (y_1, y_2) \in \widetilde{S} \times \widetilde{Q}$ . Then

$$\begin{split} |K_{1}(x_{1},x_{2})(t)-K_{1}(y_{1},y_{2})(t)| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1}|G_{1}(t,w)||x_{1}(w)-y_{1}(w)|dw+\int_{0}^{1}|H_{1}(t,w)||\sigma_{1}(w,x_{1}(w),x_{2}(w))\\ &-\sigma_{1}(w,y_{1}(w),y_{2}(w))|dw\\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1}|G_{1}(t,w)||x_{1}(w)-y_{1}(w)|dw+\int_{0}^{1}|H_{1}(t,w)|(\tau_{1}|x_{1}(w)-y_{1}(w))\\ &+\tau_{2}|x_{2}(w)-y_{2}(w)|)dw\\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1}|G_{1}(t,w)||x_{1}-y_{1}||dw+\int_{0}^{1}|H_{1}(t,w)|(\tau_{1}||x_{1}-y_{1}||+\tau_{2}||x_{2}-y_{2}(w)||)dw. \end{split}$$

After integration we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|K_1(x_1,x_2) - K_1(y_1,y_2)\| & \leq \frac{\lambda_1 \|x_1 - y_1\|}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + 1)} + \frac{\tau_1 \|x_1 - y_1\|}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)} + \frac{\tau_2 \|x_2 - y_2\|}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)} \\ & = \left[ \frac{\lambda_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + 1)} + \frac{\tau_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)} \right] \|x_1 - y_1\| + \frac{\tau_2 \|x_2 - y_2\|}{\Gamma(\kappa_1 + \zeta_1 + 1)} \\ & = k(\|x_1 - y_1\| + \|x_2 - y_2\|). \end{split}$$

Thus we have

$$||K_1(x_1, x_2) - K_1(y_1, y_2)|| \le k ||(x_1 - y_1) + (x_2 - y_2)||$$

Now we will prove result for  $K_2$ .

$$|K_2(x_1,x_2)(t) - K_2(y_1,y_2)(t)|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G_{2}(t,w)| |x_{2}(w) - y_{2}(w)| dw + \int_{0}^{1} |H_{2}(t,w)| |\sigma_{2}(w,x_{1}(w),x_{2}(w)) - \sigma_{1}(w,y_{1}(w),y_{2}(w))| dw$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G_{2}(t,w)| |x_{2}(w) - y_{2}(w)| dw + \int_{0}^{1} |H_{2}(t,w)| (\xi_{1}|x_{1}(w) - y_{1}(w)| + \xi_{2}|x_{2}(w) - y_{2}(w)|) dw$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G_{2}(t,w)| ||x_{2} - y_{2}|| dw + \int_{0}^{1} |H_{2}(t,w)| (\xi_{1}||x_{1} - y_{1}|| + \xi_{2}||x_{2} - y_{2}(w)||) dw.$$

Integration provides following results

$$\begin{split} \|K_2(x_1,x_2) - K_2(y_1,y_2)\| & \leq \frac{\lambda_2 \|x_2 - y_2\|}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + 1)} + \frac{\xi_1 \|x_1 - y_1\|}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)} + \frac{\xi_2 \|x_2 - y_2\|}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)} \\ & = \left[ \frac{\lambda_2}{\Gamma(\kappa_2)} + \frac{\xi_1}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)} \right] \|x_1 - y_1\| + \frac{\xi_2 \|x_2 - y_2\|}{\Gamma(\kappa_2 + \zeta_2 + 1)} \\ & = p(\|x_1 - y_1\| + \|x_2 - y_2\|). \end{split}$$

Thus we obtain

$$||K_2(x_1, x_2) - K_2(y_1, y_2)|| \le p||(x_1 - y_1) + (x_2 - y_2)||.$$

Thus K is a contraction mapping. Thus problem (4.1) has unique solution.

#### Example 4.2.1. Assume problem

$$D^{1/2}(D^{3/2} - \frac{1}{6})x(t) = (t + \frac{1}{4})^3[(x(t))^{\mu_1} + (y(t))^{\mu_2}],$$

$$D^{2/3}(D^{5/3} + \frac{1}{3})y(t) = (t + \frac{1}{4})^3[(x(t))^{\nu_1} + (y(t))^{\nu_2}],$$

$$D^{3/2}x(0) = 0, \ x(0) = x(1) = 0,$$

$$D^{5/3}y(0) = 0, \ y(0) = y(1) = 0,$$

$$(4.7)$$

here  $a_i = b_i = \frac{1}{64}$  and p(t) = q(t) = 0. Solution for problem (4.7) exists for  $0 < \mu_i, \nu_i < 1$  or  $\mu_i, \nu_i > 1$ . Also

$$\sigma_1(t, x, y) = (t + \frac{1}{4})^3 [(x(t))^{\mu_1} + (y(t))^{\mu_2}],$$
  
$$\sigma_2(t, x, y) = (t + \frac{1}{4})^3 [(x(t))^{\nu_1} + (y(t))^{\nu_2}].$$

Now we will check Lipschitz condition.

$$|\sigma_{1}(t, x_{1}, x_{2}) - \sigma_{1}(t, y_{1}, y_{2})| \leq (t + \frac{1}{3})^{3}(|(x_{1}(t))^{\mu_{1}} - (y_{1}(t))^{\mu_{1}}| + |(x_{2}(t))^{\mu_{2}} - (y_{2}(t))^{\mu_{2}}|),$$

$$|\sigma_{2}(t, x_{1}, x_{2}) - \sigma_{2}(t, y_{1}, y_{2})| \leq (t + \frac{1}{3})^{3}(|(x_{1}(t))^{\nu_{1}} - (y_{1}(t))^{\nu_{1}}| + |(x_{2}(t))^{\nu_{2}} - (y_{2}(t))^{\nu_{2}}|).$$

Here  $k_1 = -0.11762963$ ,  $k_2 = 0.0078125$  and  $p_1 = 0.783969355$ ,  $p_2 = 0.562422925$ . Thus  $k = \max\{-0.117598, 0.0078125\} < 1$  and  $p = \max\{0.783969355, 0.562422925\} < 1$ . Hence problem (4.7) has unique solution.

### Chapter 5

### Conclusion

In concern of generalized Reimann-Liouville fractional order derivatives, we have presented new form of fractional Langevin equation. Existence and uniqueness of solutions is accomplished by using fixed point theorems requiring corresponding nonlinear function to be Lipschitz.

Properties of Green functions are used to apply upper and lower solution techniques along with fixed point theorems to achieve existence and uniqueness of a positive solution for two fractional Langevin equations.

Also existence of solution is obtained for coupled system of fractional Langevin equations with Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative and uniqueness is verified by contraction mapping principle.

## Bibliography

- [1] Abdo, M. S., Panchal, S. K., and Saeed, A. M. (2019). Fractional boundary value problem with  $\psi$ -Caputo fractional derivative. Proceedings-Mathematical Sciences, 129(5), 1-14.
- [2] Abel, N. H. (1881). Solution de Quelques Problemesa L'aide D'intégrales Définites, Oeuvres Completes, 1, 16–18. Grondahl, Christiania, Norway.
- [3] Almeida, R. (2017). A Caputo fractional derivative of a function with respect to another function. Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation, 44, 460-481.
- [4] Alsaedi, A. (2009). Existence of solutions for integrodifferential equations of fractional order with antiperiodic boundary conditions. International Journal of Differential Equations, 2009.
- [5] Ahmad, B., and Nieto, J. J. (2010). Solvability of nonlinear Langevin equation involving two fractional orders with Dirichlet boundary conditions. International Journal of Differential Equations, 2010.
- [6] Ahmad, B., Nieto, J. J., Alsaedi, A., and El-Shahed, M. (2012). A study of nonlinear Langevin equation involving two fractional orders in different intervals. Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications, 13(2), 599-606.
- [7] Ahmad, B., and Otero-Espinar, V. (2009). Existence of solutions for fractional differential inclusions with antiperiodic boundary conditions. Boundary Value Problems, 2009, 1-11.

- [8] Ahmad, B. (2010). Existence of solutions for fractional differential equations of order  $q \in (2,3]$  with anti-periodic boundary conditions. Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computing, 34(1), 385-391.
- [9] Ahmad, B., Ntouyas, S. K., and Alsaedi, A. (2013). A study of nonlinear fractional differential equations of arbitrary order with Riemann-Liouville type multistrip boundary conditions. Mathematical Problems in Engineering, 2013.
- [10] Ahmad, B., and Nieto, J. J. (2013). Boundary value problems for a class of sequential integrodifferential equations of fractional order. Journal of Function Spaces and Applications, 2013.
- [11] Baghani, H., and Nieto, J. (2019). On fractional Langevin equation involving two fractional orders in different intervals. Nonlinear Analysis: Modelling and Control, 24(6), 884-897.
- [12] Coffey, W., Kalmykov, Y. P., and Waldron, J. T. (2004). World scientific series in contemporary chemical physics.
- [13] Das, S. (2011). Functional fractional calculus. Springer Science and Business Media.
- [14] Diethelm, K. (2010). The analysis of fractional differential equations: An application-oriented exposition using differential operators of Caputo type. Springer Science and Business Media.
- [15] Fa, K. S. (2007). Fractional Langevin equation and Riemann-Liouville fractional derivative. The European Physical Journal E, 24(2), 139-143.
- [16] Lakshmikantham, V. (1988). Nonlinear problems in abstract cones. Academic Press.
- [17] Hutson, V., Pym, J., and Cloud, M. (2005). Applications of functional analysis and operator theory. Elsevier.

- [18] Kobelev, V., and Romanov, E. (2000). Fractional Langevin equation to describe anomalous diffusion. Progress of Theoretical Physics Supplement, 139, 470-476.
- [19] Kong, Q., and Wang, M. (2012). Positive solutions of nonlinear fractional boundary value problems with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of Differential Equations, 2012(17), 1-13.
- [20] Lakshmikantham, V., Leela, S., and Vasundhara, J. (2009). Theory of Fractional Dynamic Systems. Cambridge Academic Publishers, Cambridge, UK.
- [21] Langevin, P. (1908). On the theory of Brownian motion. American Journal of Physics. C.R. Acad. Sci. 146, 530–533.
- [22] Lim, S. C., and Muniandy, S. V. (2002). Self-similar Gaussian processes for modeling anomalous diffusion. Physical Review E, 66(2), 021114.
- [23] Lim, S. C., Li, M., and Teo, L. P. (2007). Locally self-similar fractional oscillator processes. Fluctuation and Noise Letters, 7(02), L169-L179.
- [24] Lv, Z. W. (2020). Existence of Positive Solution for Fractional Differential Systems with Multipoint Boundary Value Conditions. Journal of Function Spaces, 2020.
- [25] Miller, K. S., and Ross, B. (1993). An Introduction to The Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations, John-Wily and Sons. Inc. New York.
- [26] Picozzi, S., and West, B. J. (2002). Fractional Langevin model of memory in financial markets. Physical Review E, 66(4), 046118.
- [27] Podlubny, I. (1999). Fractional differential equations. Mathematics in Science and Engineering, 198, 65-69.
- [28] Salem, A., Alzahrani, F., and Almaghamsi, L. (2019). Fractional Langevin equations with nonlocal integral boundary conditions. Mathematics, 7(5), 402-411.

- [29] Salem, A., and Alghamdi, B. (2019). Multi-point and anti-periodic conditions for generalized Langevin equation with two fractional orders. Fractal and Fractional, 3(4), 51.
- [30] Kilbas, A. A., Marichev, O. I., and Samko, S. G. (1993). Fractional Integrals and Derivatives (Theory and Applicationw). Gordon and Breach, Switzerland.
- [31] Smart, D. R. (1980). Fixed point Theorems, Cambridge Uni. Press., Cambridge.
- [32] Sudsutad, W., Ntouyas, S. K., and Tariboon, J. (2015). Systems of fractional Langevin equations of Riemann-Liouville and Hadamard types. Adzances in Difference Equations, 2015(1), 1-24.
- [33] Su, X. (2009). Boundary value problem for a coupled system of nonlinear fractional differential equations. Applied Mathematics Letters, 22(1), 64-69.
- [34] Thaiprayoon, C., Ntouyas, S. K., and Tariboon, J. (2019). On systems of fractional Langevin equations of Riemann-Liouville type with generalized nonlocal fractional integral boundary conditions. Journal of Computational Analysis and Applications, 27(1), 723–737.
- [35] Wang, Y., and Liu, L. (2017). Positive properties of the Green function for twoterm fractional differential equations and its application. Journal of Nonlinear Sciences and Applications, 10(4), 2094-2102.
- [36] West, B. J., and Latka, M. (2005). Fractional Langevin model of gait variability. Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 2(1), 1-9.
- [37] Ye, H., Ding, Y., and Gao, J., (2007). The Existence of a Positive Solution of  $D^{\alpha}[x(t) x(0)] = x(t)f(t, x(t))$ , Positivity 11, 341–350.
- [38] Zhang, S. (2006). Positive solutions for boundary-value problems of nonlinear fractional differential equations. Electronic Journal of Differential Equations, 2006.

- [39] Zwanzig, R. (2001). Nonequilibrium statistical mechanics. Oxford University Press. New York.
- [40] Bai, C. Z., and Fang, J. X. (2004). The existence of a positive solution for a singular coupled system of nonlinear fractional differential equations. Applied Mathematics and Computation, 150(3), 611-621.
- [41] Salem, A., Alzahrani, F., and Alnegga, M. (2020). Coupled system of nonlinear fractional Langevin equations with multipoint and nonlocal integral boundary conditions. Mathematical Problems in Engineering, 2020.
- [42] Sun, S., Li, Q., and Li, Y. (2012). Existence and uniqueness of solutions for a coupled system of multi-term nonlinear fractional differential equations. Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 64(10), 3310-3320.
- [43] Su, X. (2009). Boundary value problem for a coupled system of nonlinear fractional differential equations. Applied Mathematics Letters, 22(1), 64-69.